Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior de Ensenada, Baja California



Doctorado en Ciencias en Ecología Marina

Meiofaunal biodiversity of deep-sediments from the Gulf of Mexico: a metabarcoding and morphological approach for the establishment of a baseline

Tesis para cubrir parcialmente los requisitos necesarios para obtener el grado de Doctor en Ciencias

Presenta:

José Alejandro Cisterna Céliz

Ensenada, Baja California, México 2018

Tesis defendida por José Alejandro Cisterna Céliz

y aprobada por el siguiente Comité

Dr. Axayácatl Rocha Olivares Director de tesis

Dra. Elva Guadalupe Escobar Briones

Dra. María Asunción Lago Lestón

Dr. Juan Carlos Herguera García

Dr. William Kelley Thomas

Dr. Gerardo Rivas Lechuga



Dr. Jorge Adrián Rosales Casián Coordinador del Posgrado en Ecología Marina

> **Dra. Rufina Hernández Martínez** Directora de Estudios de Posgrado

Abstract of the thesis presented by **José Alejandro Cisterna Céliz** as a partial requirement to obtain the degree of Doctor of Science in Marine Ecology.

Meiofaunal biodiversity of deep-sediments from the Gulf of Mexico: a metabarcoding and morphological approach for the establishment of a baseline

Abstract approved by:

Dr. Axayácatl Rocha Olivares Thesis Director

Meiofauna is an ecological group composed by organisms whose size ranges from 20µm as a lower limit to 100µm as the upper limit. It is composed of a high diversity of taxa of which Nematoda is dominant in both abundance and biomass. Meiofauna plays important roles in the ecosystem such as the exchange of nutrients by bioturbation of sediment, remineralization of organic matter, therefore playing an important role in biogeochemical cycles. It also occupies an intermediate trophic level between the microfauna and macrofauna. Despite its great ecological importance, meiofauna has been little studied, a situation that becomes more evident if we focus on the meiofauna of deep-sea sediments. In this research we aimed to evaluate the biodiversity of the meiofauna of the sediments from the Gulf of Mexico, under two approaches, "classical" morphological approach and through the metabarcoding of the 18S ribosomal gene, to answer the following questions (i) Is there an association between the environmental variability of the Gulf of Mexico and the meiofaunal communities? and (ii) What is the influence of dispersal on community structures? For this, a total of 128 samples were collected from three regions of the Gulf: deepsea, continental shelf of Yucatan and platform and northwest slope. First, the structure of the meiofaunal community and the nematofauna of gulf deep-sea sediments was evaluated under the morphological approach, in relation to a set of environmental variables. The results indicate that there is spatial and temporal heterogeneity in environmental conditions and that some of them, such as depth, inorganic carbon, carbon/nitrogen ratio, oxygen, and percentage of sand, have an influence on the abundance of the meiofaunal community. Nematodes were numerically dominant in all the sampling sites, and the majority of taxa shared bacterivory as feeding strategy. This trophic group also had the highest maturity index. The structure of the nematofauna was significantly related to environmental characteristics, but not the dispersal of the genera. Based on these results, we postulate that the meiofauna of the deep-sea sediments from Gulf of Mexico may represent a metacommunity following the species sorting model. Next, the structure of the meiofauna was evaluated in the three regions of the Gulf of Mexico under the molecular approach of metabarcoding. The results indicate that each geographical area shelters a different meiofaunal community and that these differences occur at the level of sequence variants (taxonomic list) and the proportions between them. On the other hand, phylogenetic analyzes suggest that the northwest region of the Gulf of Mexico is an intermediate evolutionary region between the platform of Yucatan and the deep sea and that, in addition, the lineages of these last two regions still have not diverged from the lineages found in the Northwest Gulf region. The general results of this research allow us to conclude that the structure of the meiofauna differs significantly at a regional scale (among the three regions analyzed here), but also at a habitat scale in deep-sea sediments. On the other hand, results are consistent with the existence of limited dispersal.

Resumen de la tesis que presenta **José Alejandro Cisterna Céliz** como requisito parcial para la obtención del grado de Doctor en Ciencias en Ecología Marina.

Biodiversidad de la meiofauna de los sedimentos profundos del Golfo de México: un acercamiento de metabarcoding y morfológico para el establecimiento de una línea de base.

Resumen aprobado por:

Dr. Axayácatl Rocha Olivares Director de Tesis

La meiofauna es un grupo ecológico compuesto por organismos cuyo intervalo de tamaño va desde las 20µm como límite inferior hasta 1000µm como límite superior. Está compuesto por una diversidad alta de taxa de los cuales Nematoda es dominante tanto en abundancia como en biomasa. La meiofauna desempeña funciones importantes en el ecosistema como por ejemplo el intercambio de nutrientes por la bioturbación del sedimento y la remineralización de la materia orgánica, por lo que cumple un papel importante en los ciclos biogeoquímicos. Además, ocupa un nivel trófico intermedio entre la microbiota y la macrofauna. A pesar de su gran importancia ecológica la meiofauna ha sido poco estudiada, situación que se hace más evidente si nos enfocamos en la de sedimentos del mar profundo. En esta investigación nos propusimos evaluar la biodiversidad de la meiofauna de los sedimentos profundos del Golfo de México, bajo dos aproximaciones, morfológica "clásica" y a través del metabarcoding del gen ribosomal 18S, para responder a las siguientes preguntas (i) ¿Existe una asociación entre la variabilidad ambiental del Golfo de México y las comunidades meiofaunales? y (ii) ¿Cuál es la influencia de la dispersión en las estructuras comunitarias? Para esto se colectaron un total 128 muestras de tres regiones dentro de la Zona Económica Exclusiva del Golfo de México: mar profundo, plataforma continental de Yucatán y plataforma y talud noroeste. En primer lugar se evaluó la estructura de la comunidad meiofaunal y de la nematofauna en los sedimentos profundos del Golfo bajo la aproximación morfológica, con relación a un grupo de variables ambientales. Los resultados indican que existe tanto heterogeneidad espacial como temporal en las condiciones ambientales y que algunas variables como la profundidad, el carbono inorgánico, la relación carbono/nitrógeno, el oxígeno y el porcentaje de arena tienen una influencia en la abundancia de la comunidad meiofaunal. Nematoda fue el taxón dominante en todos los sitios de muestreo, y presentó una estructura trófica dominada por bacterivoría, grupo trófico que también presentó el mayor índice de madurez. La estructura de la nematofauna se relacionó significativamente con las características ambientales, pero no así la dispersión de los géneros. Con base en estos resultados, nosotros postulamos que la meiofauna de los sedimentos profundos del Golfo de México se comporta como una metacomunidad y que sigue el modelo de selección de especies. En segundo lugar se evaluó la estructura de la meiofauna en tres regiones dentro de la Zona Económica Exclusiva del Golfo de Mexico, con la aproximación molecular a través de metabarcoding. Los resultados indican que cada área geográfica alberga comunidades meiofaunales diferentes y que estas diferencias se dan a nivel de las secuencias variantes (elenco taxonómico) y de las proporciones entre ellas. Por otro lado, los análisis de diversidad filogenética sugieren que la región noroeste del Golfo de México es una región intermedia evolutivamente entre la plataforma de Yucatán y el mar profundo y que, además, los linajes de estas dos últimas regiones aún no divergen de los linajes de la región noroeste del Golfo. Los resultados generales de esta investigación permiten concluir que la estructura de la meiofauna difiere significativamente a escala regional (entre las 3 regiones del Golfo analizadas), pero también a una escala de hábitat en el mar profundo. Además, los resultados son consistentes con la existencia de una dispersión limitada.

Palabras clave: Meiofauna, Nematofauna, Golfo de México, Mar profundo, Metabarcoding.

Dedication

A Mateo y Emma

Y a los que vendrán...

Acknowledgements

Al Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología de México (CONACYT), por darme la beca de estudios, al Programa de Posgrado en Ecología Marina y el Consorcio de Investigación del Golfo de México (CIGoM) por apoyarme también económicamente para poder terminar este periodo de mi vida.

A mis compañeros del Laboratorio de Ecología Molecular y de Meiofauna, aquellos con quienes pude compartir algo de tiempo antes de que emigraran y con quienes pude estar hasta el final de mi periodo en el doctorado, especialmente a Francesco, gracias por ser mi amigo.

Al CICESE y a todo su equipo de trabajo, desde el personal administrativo hasta el técnico, incluyendo todos los maestros con quienes tuve el placer de aprender en sus clases, hasta aquellos con quienes tuve el placer de compartir fuera de salón.

A Joe Sevigny, thank you so much for your help with the bioinformatics, because you always had an empathy with me and for answer my questions so quickly.

A mi comité de tesis por su ayuda durante todo este periodo. Dra. Escobar, muchas gracias por compartir de su tiempo en medio de todas sus obligaciones como directora del Instituto de Ciencias del Mar y Limnología de la UNAM. Al Dr. Juan Carlos y a la Dra. Asunción por sus comentarios y sugerencias sobre la investigación y también al Dr. Kelley, thanks a lot for your time, your thoughts about the research and for inviting me to Texas. Finalmente, al Dr. Gerardo Rivas por recibirme en su casa durante estos últimos meses y por esas enriquecedoras discusiones durante los desayunos y comidas que amablemente compartió conmigo, muchas gracias "estimado".

Al Dr. Axayácatl por darme la oportunidad de realizar esta investigación doctoral en su laboratorio, por su manera de guiarme como estudiante, por sus consejos en tiempos difíciles y por soportarme en mis peores momentos.

A mis padres, quienes desde Chile siempre estuvieron pendientes de mí, a mis hermanas y amigos también. Elea, has sido un reposo para mí, muchas gracias por querer compartir tus días conmigo. Finalmente quiero agradecer a Mateo y a Emma, muchas gracias mis chiquitos por llenar mi vida de alegría con cada rayo de luz que brota desde sus sonrisas. Esta investigación ha sido financiada por el Fondo Sectorial CONACYT-SENER-Hidocarburos, proyecto 201441. Esta es una contribución del Consorcio de Investigación del Golfo de México (CIGoM).

Table of contents

| Abstract | ii |
|---|---------------------|
| Resumen | iii |
| Dedication | iv |
| Acknowledgements | v |
| List of figures | x |
| List of tables | xii |
| Chapter 1. Introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 Generalities of meiofauna | 1 |
| 1.2 Ecology of the meiofauna | 1 |
| 1.3 Meiofauna in the Gulf of Mexico | 4 |
| 1.4 Generalities of the Gulf of Mexico | 5 |
| 1.5 Justification | 7 |
| 1.6 Hypotheses | 8 |
| 1.7 Objectives | 8 |
| 1.7.1 General | 8 |
| 1.7.2 Specifics | 8 |
| | |
| Chapter 2. Metacommunity analysis of meiobenthos of deep-sea sediments from | the Gulf of Mexico9 |
| 2.1 Introduction | 9 |
| 2.2 Material and Methods | 12 |
| 2.2.1 Field sampling | 12 |
| 2.2.2 Meiofauna extraction | 13 |
| 2.2.3 Organism quantification and identification | 14 |
| 2.2.4 Ecological analyses | 14 |
| 2.2.5 Environmental analyses | 15 |
| 2.2.6 Data analyses | 15 |
| 2.2.7 β diversity | 16 |
| 2.2.8 Environmental differences among sampling stations | 17 |
| 2.3 Results | 17 |
| 2.3.1 Meiobenthic community | 17 |
| 2.3.2 Environmental variation and community correlates | |
| 2.3.3 Nematofauna | 21 |

| 2.3.4 Index of trophic diversity and maturity stage of communities | 22 |
|---|----|
| 2.3.5 β diversity and environmental differences among sampling stations | 23 |
| 2.4 Discussion | 26 |
| 2.4.1 Environmental features of the GoM | 26 |
| 2.4.2 Total community abundance | 26 |
| 2.4.3 Total community structure | 27 |
| 2.4.4 Nematode community: Functional and maturity stage | 28 |
| 2.4.5 Nematode community: dispersal and environmental differences | 29 |
| 2.5 Conclusion | 30 |
| | |
| Chapter 3. Metabarcoding analysis of the meiofaunal communities from the Gulf of Mexico | 31 |
| 3.1 Introduction | 31 |
| 3.1.1 Metabarcoding: biodiversity from DNA | 32 |

viii

| 3.1.1 Metabarcoding: biodiversity from DNA | 32 |
|--|----|
| 3.1.2 Sedimentary environments of the Gulf of Mexico (GoM) | 32 |
| 3.2 Material and Methods | 34 |
| 3.2.1 Sampling | 34 |
| 3.2.2 DNA extraction | 35 |
| 3.2.3. Sequencing and bioinformatic pipeline | 36 |
| 3.2.4 Ecological analyses | 36 |
| 3.3 Results | 38 |
| 3.3.1 Sequencing | 38 |
| 3.3.2 Comparison of the 3 geographic areas | 38 |
| 3.3.3 Dispersal | 40 |
| 3.4 Discussion | 42 |
| 3.4.1 Environments | 42 |
| 3.4.2 Dispersal | 44 |
| 3.5 Conclusion | 46 |
| | |
| Chapter 4. Conclusions | 47 |
| References | 49 |
| | |
| Appendix 1 | 60 |
| Abundance of each major taxon of meiobenthos and total abundance (ind 10cm ⁻²) | 60 |

| pendix 262 |
|------------|
|------------|

| Detailed information of the environmental variables of each sampling station of XIXIMI IC: inorganic carbon, TOC: total organic carbon, C/N: carbon/nitrogen ratio | | | | | |
|---|----|--|--|--|--|
| Appendix 3 | 64 | | | | |
| Nematode families and genera found in XIXIMI-1. Results in ind 10cm ⁻² | 64 | | | | |
| Appendix 4 | 66 | | | | |
| 4.1 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from Perdido region | 66 | | | | |
| 4.2 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from Yucatan Shelf | 67 | | | | |
| 4.3 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from deep-sea. | 68 | | | | |

List of figures

| | Figure Page | |
|----|---|----|
| 1 | Map showing the distribution of the studies carried out in the meiofauna, before (blue circles) and after (red circles) of the review published by Soltwedel (2000). a) World Ocean, b) Arctic region and c) Antarctic region. Taken from Rosli and coworkers (2018) | 3 |
| 2 | Distribution of the primary sediment classes of the Gulf of Mexico. Taken from Balsam and Beeson (2003) | 6 |
| 3 | Physiographic regions of the Gulf of Mexico. Taken from Martin and Bouma (1978) | 7 |
| 4 | Sampling stations within Gulf of Mexico. Pink circles: stations for X-1, yellow triangles: stations for X-2 and blue diamonds: stations for X-3. Some stations were sampled twice in different years. Figure created using Ocean Data View (version 4.5.6, Schlitzer, R. 2013. http://odv.awi.de) | 13 |
| 5 | Regression analysis of meiofaunal abundance in the entire sample (total abundance) against estimated from 25% (aliquot abundance) in samples from X-2 and X-3 cruises to estimate total abundance in X-1 samples. Blue circles: X-2 and Orange circles: X-3 | 18 |
| 6 | PCA Analysis of environmental variables for each cruise. a) X-1, b) X-2 and c) X-3. C/N: Carbon/Nitrogen ratio, TOC: Total Organic Carbon, IC: Inorganic Carbon, SC: Sediment Classification. Red rectangles mean positive loadings and blue rectangles mean negative loadings. | 19 |
| 7 | Meiofauna abundance (In) correlated against environmental CAP. a) X-1, b) X-2 and c) X-3. TOC: Total Organic Carbon, IC: Inorganic Carbon. Red rectangles mean positive loadings and blue rectangles mean negative loadings. Loadings in X-2 are not included because the correlation was not significant. | 20 |
| 8 | Index of trophic diversity (1-ITD) and maturity index (MI) for nematode communities from X-1. a) ITD at each sampling station, b) proportion of trophic groups at each station, c) MI at each sampling station and d) MI at each functional group. In figure b, 1A: selective deposit feeders, 1B: non-selective deposit feeders, 2A: epistrate or epigrowth feeders and 2B: predators/omnivores. | 23 |
| 9 | β diversity results correlated with geographic distance (km). a) β_{-3} diversity, b) β_{rich} diversity and c) β_{cc} diversity. In figure a) blue circles include paired comparisons of sampling stations C21, D30, F39, G44 and H46 (group 1) and red circle include comparisons with sampling stations A1 and B18 (groups 2) | 24 |
| 10 | Euclidean distance (E. D.) of environmental variables from paired-comparisons of all sampling stations from X-1. a) E.D. including all environmental variables, and b) E.D. of scores from CAP analysis of X-1 | 25 |
| 11 | Sampling stations within the Gulf of Mexico. a) sampling stations from Perdido and Yucatan regions, and b) samplings stations from deep-sea | 35 |

| 12 | Meiofaunal major taxonomic groups found at each geographic region in the Gulf of Mexico. | 39 |
|----|--|----|
|----|--|----|

List of tables

| Table | | Page |
|-------|--|------|
| 1 | PERMANOVA summary results for total abundance by sample and total abundance of Nematoda by sample. Cr: cruise, Se: sediment (4 levels of silt) | 21 |
| 2 | Nematode community attributes for XIXIMI-1. S: genera richness, J: equitability, H' Shannon-Wiener diversity (log2) | 22 |

1.1 Generalities of meiofauna

Meiofauna is an ecological group defined as an "assemblage of benthic metazoans that can be distinguished from macrobenthos by their small size" (Mare 1942). The range of sizes has undergone changes throughout the years of study and depending on the environment in which it is being analyzed. In coastal sediments, where the size of the organisms is greater, meiofauna includes all metazoans retained by a sieve with mesh size between 44 and 63 µm (Giere 2009); whereas in deep sediments (>200m) a lower limit from 20 to 44 µm has been proposed (Danovaro and Gambi 2002; Zeppilli et al. 2016). This ecological group is considered the most abundant and diverse in deep sea sediments (Giere 2009), and typically the meiofauna of the deep-sea sediments is composed mainly of Nematodes as the most abundant group, reaching proportions many times greater than 90%, followed by harpactidoid copepods and annelids (Lambshead 2004; Grove et al. 2006; Giere 2009), and by less abundant groups such as Arthropoda, Mollusca, Kinorhyncha, Gastrotricha, Tardígrada, Platyhelminthes, among others. The life cycle of meiofauna is characterized by lacking a planktonic larval stage, which represents a limitation in its dispersal capacity.

Meiofauna plays very important roles in sediments; it serves as food for higher trophic levels such as macrofauna, enhances the exchange of nutrients through bioturbation, and has an influence on remineralization processes in the sediment, by stimulating microbial activity through grazing and enhancing the assimilation of detritus by deposit feeders (Service et al. 1992; Meadows and Meadows 1994; Montagna et al. 1995; Moens et al. 2007; Pape et al. 2013). Indirectly, it also has an influence on the biogeochemical cycles through its contribution to the remineralization of carbon and nitrogen (Ingham et al. 1985; Heip et al. 1992); in addition, many studies have shown that meiofauna is useful as a bioindicator of pollution, disturbances and climate change (Balsamo et al. 2012; Pusceddu et al. 2014; Zeppilli et al. 2015).

1.2 Ecology of the meiofauna

Different studies have tried to describe the relationship between the community attributes of meiofauna and environmental factors, so far with contrasting results. For shallow meiofaunal

communities salinity, temperature and grain size of the sediment have an important effect, in particular grain size (Giere 2009). On the other hand, in deep-sea sediment communities sediment heterogeneity, productivity, food, dissolved oxygen and deep currents have a significant effect on meiofauna (Rowe et al. 2008; Wei et al. 2010).

There are few studies conducted on the ecology of the meiofauna compared to macro or megafauna (Rex et al. 2006). The investigations carried out in the deep ocean have been done, to a large extent, on the continental margins (Figure 1), and have evaluated abundance, biomass and community structure in light of different environmental factors such as bathymetric gradients, surface productivity, different types of sediment and different spatial scales, among others. So far, it is difficult to find generalities for this ecological group, except for the bathymetric gradient and at different spatial scales.

Soltwedel (2000), published a review that covers research on meiofauna from the continental margins from 1970s to the end of the 1990s. Their main focus was on the patterns of abundance and biomass along the bathymetric and horizontal gradients and the vertical distribution of the meiofauna in the sediment, as well as the seasonal patterns in different oceans (Atlantic, Northwestern Indian, North and southwest Pacific) in the Mediterranean Sea, and in different regions (polar, temperate, subtropical and tropical). The results of the investigations included in this review indicate that the abundance and biomass of the meiofauna decrease with increasing depth of the seafloor, which responds to the decrease of the organic matter influx with the depth due to the degradation processes of sinking particles in the water column. For the same reason, the abundance and biomass of the meiofauna show differences not only with the depth of the water column, but also among areas with different regimes of primary productivity.

Rosli and coworkers (2018), published a review including the work done after the review of Soltwedel (2000), with a focus on patterns of spatial distribution of the deep-sea meiofauna at different scales: small (\sim 0.1 – 10cm), local (\sim 0.1 – 100m), habitat (\sim 0.1 – 100km) and regional (\sim 100 – 10,000km). Although community attributes such as abundance, diversity and community structure present a variation at all spatial scales, the greatest variability is generally observed at regional scale. As in the review carried out by Soltwedel (2000), differences at regional scale are mostly related to differences in surface productivity and physical disturbances; however, geological history and ocean currents can also contribute to regional patterns of distribution and abundance.



Figure 1. Map showing the distribution of the studies carried out in the meiofauna, before (blue circles) and after (red circles) of the review published by Soltwedel (2000). a) World Ocean, b) Arctic region and c) Antarctic region. Taken from Rosli and coworkers (2018).

Although dispersal would be expected to have very little influence in meiofaunal communities, given their lacking of a pelagic larval stage, the results until now are contrasting. Some agree that meiofaunal dispersal is important on a small scale; however, at larger scales it is the physical-chemical characteristics of the sediment that determine community structures (Fenchel and Finlay 2004; Leduc et al. 2012). On the other hand, others posit that deep-ocean meiofauna may have a high dispersal (Gallucci et al. 2008; Guidi-Guilvard et al. 2009; Guilini et al. 2011). For shallow sediments, analysis of genetic diversity suggests that population structures between patches separated by less than 1km are affected mainly by priority effects, founder effect and bottleneck processes (Derycke et al. 2013). On the other hand, because the absence of larval stage, passive dispersal by ocean currents has also been described as an important ecological process for meiofauna, particularly in shallow sediments (Palmer 1988; Radziejewska et al. 2006).

Historically, meiofauna has been studied through morphological observation through microscopes. This "classical" approach has generated much of the knowledge we have about this group until now, including not only the taxonomy, but also the trophic characteristics of groups such as nematodes (Wieser 1953). Recently, the study of these microscopic communities has been carried out using an approach known as "metabarcoding", which evaluates biodiversity using the DNA obtained directly from the environment (sediment in this case), and has become increasingly important in recent years because it allows access to the biodiversity of a sample in a simple way.

Research conducted on meiofauna using metabarcoding has revealed interesting results in terms of biogeographic patterns and bathymetric gradients suggesting that sediment depth has a greater influence on the community structure compared to sediments separated even by ocean basins suggesting a shorter coalescence time between deep-sea regions or slower rates of evolution across this ecosystem (Bik et al. 2010; Bik et al. 2012; Fonseca et al. 2014). In addition, this approach has revealed that the biodiversity found in molecular analyses is much higher than previously expected (Fonseca et al. 2017).

1.3 Meiofauna in the Gulf of Mexico

In the Gulf of Mexico (GoM) most of the research on meiofauna has been conducted in the US section. In this region of the Gulf, "The Deep Gulf of Mexico Benthos Program" stands out, which investigated the structure and function of the biota of the marine floor in the continental slope and abyssal plain (Rowe and Kennicutt 2008). This research program revealed that the biomass and respiration of meiofauna decrease with depth and that the highest levels were found in the vicinity of the Mississippi River in the continental slope; in addition, meiofauna respiration explained between 8 and 22% of all community respiration of sediments, reflecting the importance of meiofauna in diagenesis, carbon budget and global biogeochemical cycles (Baguley et al. 2008).

Additional research in the US section of the GoM revealed that the abundance of meiofauna is significantly related to the depth of the ocean and to a longitudinal gradient as well, the latter associated with the discharge of the Mississippi River, where the highest abundance was found in the canyon near the mouth of the river (Baguley et al. 2006; Sharma et al. 2011; Sharma et al. 2012). Regarding the nematofauna, the abundance on continental shelf correlates positively with high levels of aluminum and

silicate near the mouth of the Mississippi River, as well as with high levels of silt and clay; however, the abundance bears no relationship with depth (Beaton et al. 2018).

In the Mexican section of the GoM, differences in density and biomass of meiofauna have been documented between the western continental shelf and the southern Gulf. The highest values (5 to 6 orders of magnitude difference) were found in the shelf, where the sediment is dominated by clay and to a smaller proportion of sands. In both regions the dominant group were Nematoda and Copepoda (Escobar et al. 1997). Other research comparing the southwest continental shelf and the abyssal plain near the Sigsbee mound revealed slightly higher abundances in the southwest region, although differences were not significant. In terms of biomass, the abyssal plain presented higher values (Escobar-Briones et al. 2008). Regarding the nematofauna, De Jesús -Navarrete (1993) found 4 orders, 39 families, 86 genera and 96 species in the Campeche escarpment, which were distributed according to the sediment type, finding greater abundance in silty sediments than in sandy sediments. Soto and coworkers (2017) conducted another study in Mexico's exclusive economic zone of the Gulf (Perdido region). They evaluated the effect of the oil spill of April 2010 caused by the Deep Water Horizon oil platform on the nematofauna of the platform and continental slope of the northwest region of the Gulf. The results indicate that the nematofauna found in the summer of 2010 included 48 genera and an abundance of 44.45 ind 10cm⁻², whereas 8 months later there was a decrease in the number of genera (23) and abundance (25.22 ind 10cm⁻²); however, in 2012 the nematofauna showed signs of recovery with a total of 58 genera and an abundance of 91.45 ind 10cm⁻².

1.4 Generalities of the Gulf of Mexico

The sedimentology of the GoM is well characterized, from sediment transport and dispersion to mineralogy, the shape of grains, acoustic and geological characteristics of the sediment and chemical distributions (Trask 1953; Mazzullo 1986; Bouma et al. 1990; Twitchell et al. 1992).

Carbonate-rich sediments are present on the Florida and the Yucatan continental shelfs, whereas terrigenous sediments dominate the Texas-Louisiana-Mississippi shelf. The basal sediments reflect a mixture of these two major provinces, in addition to an input of pelagic sediments. The carbonate sands of the Yucatan shelf are mainly composed of ooids, fragments of skeletons (mollusks, foraminifera, echinoderms, corals, and bryozoans), pellets and carbonated clasts (Balsam and Beeson 2003). The

presence of carbonated mud is also found on this shelf, but it is subdominant to the sand.

Most of the Sigsbee abyssal plain is covered by marl, which is a mixture of pelagic carbonate sediments, principally foraminifera and coccolithophore and terrigenous clay, mainly from the Mississippi River. In the western section of the Sigsbee abyssal plain the relative contribution of pelagic organisms decreases and the terrigenous and calcareous clay takes on greater importance (Balsam and Beeson 2003) (Figure 2).

On the other hand, the Gulf of Mexico also has different physiographic regions (Figure 3). The continental shelf is almost continuous with a width that varies between 320km to 40km; the platform and continental slope present salt domes at different depths and important deposits of oil and natural gas associated with these. The abyssal plain is delimited by abrupt escarpments towards Florida and Yucatan and by gentler slopes in the north and west. The Sigsbee region is the deepest zone, where mounds are also found, which are the superficial expressions of buried salt domes (Martin and Bouma 1978).



Figure 2. Distribution of the primary sediment classes of the Gulf of Mexico. Taken from Balsam and Beeson (2003).



Figure 3. Physiographic regions of the Gulf of Mexico. Taken from Martin and Bouma (1978).

1.5 Justification

Meiofauna plays a very important role in marine ecosystems, from biogeochemical cycles to its position in the trophic web and utility as a bioindicator (Schratzberger and Ingels 2017). In order to better understand the role played by the meiofauna in these processes, it is necessary to first understand their patterns of abundance and distribution, which are influenced by external factors (environmental, sediment, bathymetry, among others) as well as internal (life history, trophic characteristics).

In this context, the Gulf of Mexico represents a unique environment for the study of these patterns since it presents contrasting regions with particular environmental characteristics, physiography, type of sediment and bathymetry.

1.6 Hypotheses

1.- Meiofaunal community structure will be affected by the environmental variability of the Gulf of Mexico

2.- Dispersal is not the main ecological process influencing community structure.

1.7 Objectives

1.7.1 General

Assess meiofaunal community of sediments from Gulf of Mexico under both morphological and molecular approaches.

1.7.2 Specifics

1.- Relate the meiofaunal abundance with environmental variability in deep-sea sediments from Gulf of Mexico.

2.- Evaluate the taxonomic and functional diversity of nematode community in deep-sediments from Gulf of Mexico.

3.- Evaluate meiofaunal community structure at large scale within the Gulf of Mexico (Yucatan shelf, northwest shelf and slope and deep-sea).

Chapter 2. Metacommunity analysis of meiobenthos of deep-sea sediments from the Gulf of Mexico

2.1 Introduction

A crucial question in ecology is how environmental drivers influence biodiversity patterns within and among communities. Diverse factors have been found to affect the communities inhabiting the interstitial space of marine sediments (i.e. including meiofauna). Salinity, temperature and sediment grain size have an effect on intertidal meiofauna, where sediment grain size is probably the most important (Giere 2009). On the other hand, deep-water communities are more affected by sediment heterogeneity, productivity, food supply, bottom-water oxygen, deep-sea currents, and catastrophic disturbances (Rowe et al. 2008; Wei et al. 2010). Of these variables, it has been shown that depth has an important effect on abundance, diversity, and meiofaunal standing stock, given its influence on relevant environmental variables (Rowe et al. 2008; Giere 2009), whereas the other variables have been associated with patterns of horizontal zonation, biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Gheskiere et al. 2004; Zeppilli et al. 2016).

Because of its ubiquity, meiofauna is considered a cosmopolitan ecological group; however, because of the limited dispersal capabilities of meiofaunal species, their apparent ubiquity gives rise to the "meiofaunal paradox" (Giere 2009; Boeckner et al. 2009).

Meiobenthic taxa are characterized by their short generation time; hence, they have a patchy spatial distribution with densities very difficult to predict, especially for deep-sea communities having been significantly less studied than coastal ones. In this regard, the existence of cryptic taxa has been revealed by genetic analyses in some coastal and recently described in Antarctic continental shelf nematode species; for example, remarkable changes in allele composition among adjacent populations have been shown in the cosmopolitan nematodes *Geomonhystera disjuncta* and *Pellioditis marina*, revealing metapopulation dynamics (Derycke et al. 2007; Derycke et al. 2008; Giere 2009; Hauquier et al. 2017).

Metapopulation theory is based on colonization and extinction dynamics of different patches containing local populations, where each of them could experience different dynamics implying some degree of demographic independence. This scenario assumes low levels of dispersal among local populations (Grimm et al. 2003). There are, at least, two main problems with the metapopulation approach in marine populations. First, the difficulty to delineate local and regional population boundaries as well as their spatial scale (Camus and Lima 2002), particularly for meiobenthic communities. Second,

for deep-sea meiobenthic communities, the difficulty of taxonomic identification to species level. On the other hand, meiobenthos may present different community structures, especially if the seabed morphology is irregular and sediment type is heterogeneous (Zeppilli et al. 2016), therefore it is possible to consider that different environments separated to regional scales (100's to 1000's meters) can shelter different meiofaunal communities.

Nematodes are the most abundant meiobenthic group (Baguley et al. 2006; Danovaro et al. 2008; Giere 2009). They are present in all environments and recent genetic evidence has shown that priority effects, founder effects and genetic bottlenecks may produce genetic structure in patches separated by less than 1 km (Derycke et al. 2013).

Nematodes possess a variety of life-history strategies and trophic habits. A maturity index (MI) was originally proposed to make inferences about ecosystem conditions based on the composition of nematode communities (Bongers 1990). It is based on categorizing nematode taxa along a colonizerpersister scale, reflecting thus if the dominant life history corresponds to a K- or r-strategy. Using this approach, the maturity state of different communities of marine nematodes has been assessed by the preponderance of persister organisms (Ingels et al. 2011; Bianchelli et al. 2013; Ürkmez et al. 2014; Fraschetti et al. 2016). On the other hand, the index of trophic diversity (ITD) (Wieser 1953), has been used to investigate the functional diversity of nematode communities. Hence, ITD allows testing diversity and ecosystem functioning hypotheses such as the positive correlation between biodiversity and ecosystem function and stability (Naeem et al. 2012; Mori et al. 2013), allowing to evaluate hypotheses of the relationship between environmental characteristics and proportions of each of the functional groups. Due to the fact that deep-sea nematode communities have been poorly characterized leading to a lack of identification keys, most ecological research of those communities is performed identifying specimens at the genus level. Hence, MI has been proposed for nematode genera, and even at family level for some groups (Bongers 1990; Bongers et al. 1991; Bongers and Bongers 1998).

Interactions among species result in ecological processes occurring at different spatial scales (Leibold et al. 2004; Storch and Gaston 2004), such as colonization and extinction patterns, demography of local communities influenced by movement of organisms from other communities, among others. Hence, the concept of metacommunity has been proposed to study the interaction of different species at a regional scale. A metacommunity (Leibold et al. 2004) has been defined as "a set of local communities that are linked by dispersal of multiple potentially interacting species", and it is based upon 4 simplified views, (i) the patch dynamics paradigm (PD), which assumes that each habitat patch is determined by

both stochastic and deterministic extinctions, interspecific interactions, and dispersal. Under this paradigm, regional coexistence is governed by interspecific competition for resources; (ii) the speciessorting paradigm (SS), which considers the effects of environmental gradients (local abiotic features) on population vital rates and species interactions; (iii) the mass-effect paradigm (ME), which refers to the source-sink relationships among populations in different patches as the result of dispersal, each patch having different conditions at a particular time such that it is possible to relate local conditions and community structure; and (iv) the neutral-model paradigm (NM), which is a null hypothesis for the other three paradigms (Leibold et al. 2004).

The study of community dynamics and its correlation with environmental factors remains a challenge, especially at different spatial scales. Metacommunity theory represents a very useful approach to explain patterns found in nature. Under a condition governed by patch dynamics (PD), dispersal is the main process in structuring communities given the absence of environmental heterogeneity among patches, the result being that species lacking high competitive ability may coexist on a regional scale. On the other hand, in the presence of environmental heterogeneity among patches a discrete distribution of species whereas the ME paradigm predicts a more complex scenario, in which coexistence could be the result of a trade-off between local dynamics (such as predation) and dispersal (colonization-extinction dynamics). Finally, the NM paradigm results when environmental and biological dynamics bear no predictable power to explain metacommunity structure.

Since the difference between SS and ME paradigms is the relative importance of dispersal, and taking into consideration that dispersal rates remain unknown in deep-sea meiobenthos, we posit that the extent of change in community structure could be a proxy for the degree of isolation between them. One of the most used concepts to analyze differences in community structure is β diversity (Ellingsen 2002; Koleff et al. 2003; Fontana et al. 2008; Dimitriadis and Koutsoubas 2011; Gambi et al. 2014), defined by Whittaker (1960) as the change of community composition or differentiation in relation to environmental gradient. Many expressions have been proposed to quantify β diversity emphasizing different aspects (Koleff et al. 2003); nonetheless, β diversity measures species substitution and species loss (or gain) among communities (Carvalho et al. 2012).

Here, we study the meiofaunal community structure from the deep GoM under the framework of metacommunity dynamics. The GoM has been subdivided into physiographic regions according to prevailing environmental factors, such as sediment type. For instance, the northern section of the abyssal plain has sediment of continental origin in which the carbonate content is less than 25% (Bouma 1972;

Escobar-Briones et al. 2008), whilst the sediment of the central and south sections of the abyssal plain has a hemipelagic origin, and is mainly composed of pelagic foraminiferan shells (Escobar-Briones et al. 2008). The central and southern parts of the Sigsbee Abyssal Plain, which is the deepest and flattest sector of the northwestern Gulf of Mexico, are relatively enriched in carbonate (30-50%) with respect to lower continental slope environments surrounding it, and they consist mostly of a mud relatively enriched with planktic and benthic foraminiferal shells and coccoliths [for a thorough environmental description of the GoM see: Escobar et al. (1997); Escobar-briones et al. (1999)].

We hypothesize that environmental variability will have an effect on total meiobenthic community, and that particular environmental characteristics will reflect on different nematode communities. For the first hypothesis, we relate environment features with total community abundance, and for the second hypothesis we analyze the functional structure of nematode community and its maturity stage (MI and ITD indices), as well as the β diversity to estimate dispersal. Given that the deep GoM has different sediment types, we expect that nematode community structure can be explained by the SS or ME paradigms.

2.2 Material and Methods

2.2.1 Field sampling

Deep-sea stations (1233 – 3738 m) were visited in the Mexican economic exclusive zone (EEZ) of the GoM, during the course of XIXIMI Cruises led by the Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior de Ensenada (CICESE) on board the R/V Justo Sierra (Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México). A total of twenty-seven sediment cores were collected during XIXIMI-1 (X-1 henceforth, n = 7, November 2010), XIXIMI-2 (X-2 henceforth, n = 11, June 2012) and XIXIMI-3 (X-3 henceforth, n = 9, February 2013) cruises. With the aim of sampling most of the GoM, sampling stations were located in different physiographic and sedimentary regions (Martin and Bouma 1978; Balsam and Beeson 2003). Due to sampling constraints only one core was sampled at each station, however, physiographic regions were sampled more than once in each cruise and some stations were revisited in different cruises (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Sampling stations within Gulf of Mexico. Pink circles: stations for X-1, yellow triangles: stations for X-2 and blue diamonds: station for X-3. Some stations were sampled twice in different years. Figure created using Ocean Data View (versión 4.5.6, Schlitzer, R. 2013. http://odv.awi.de)

Samples (12cm-deep cores) were taken using either a box-corer, from which cylindrical sediment cores were subsampled with an acrylic core (internal diameter 8.1 cm, X-1), or using a multicorer device deployed to the deep-sea (internal diameter 10 cm, X-2 and X-3). Sediment was preserved in 10% buffered formalin.

2.2.2 Meiofauna extraction

Meiofauna was extracted from the sediment matrix by decantation and flotation with colloidal silica (Ludox TM, specific gravity 1.15g cm⁻³ (de Jonge and Bouwman 1977) followed by sieving through a 1000 μ m mesh, and retained on a 45 μ m mesh (Somerfield and Warwick 1996). The process was repeated three times to maximize the number of extracted organisms. Once separated from sediment, organisms were stored in 10% buffered formalin in a final volume of 40ml.

2.2.3 Organism quantification and identification

Fixed organisms were resuspended and ten of the 40 ml (aliquots of 25%) containing the meiofaunal community were mounted on permanent slides for quantification, identification and archival. Slide mounting involved previous glycerol impregnation (45% water, 50% alcohol, 5% glycerin). In addition, the remaining 75% of the sample (30 ml) was analyzed in cruises X-2 and X-3.

Meiofauna from all cruises was identified to major taxa using a Primo Star microscope (Carl Zeiss) following the descriptions in Giere (2009). In addition, a subset of nematodes from the X-1 cruise (10% per station) were randomly selected and taxonomically identified to genus level under an Olympus-BX51 microscope using the marine nematode taxonomic keys Platt and Warwick (1983), (1988); Warwick et al. (1998) and the Nemys database (<u>http://nemys.ugent.be/</u>). Identified nematodes were classified into four functional groups: 1A selective deposit feeders, 1B non-selective deposit feeders, 2A epistrate or epigrowth feeders and 2B predators/omnivores (Wieser 1953).

2.2.4 Ecological analyses

We computed diversity as genus richness (S), equitability (J) and Shannon-Wiener (H') indices for each sample from X-1. To estimate the life-strategy dominance of the nematode community, each genus was assigned a colonizer-persister (c-p) score, as detailed in Bongers (1990); Bongers et al. (1991); Bongers and Bongers (1998). Subsequently, the maturity index (MI) was computed as the weighted mean of c-p scores: MI = Σv (i) * f (i), where v is the c-p value of genus i as given in the Appendix of Bongers et al. 1991), and f (i) is the frequency of that genus. In this way, communities with an MI close to 1 will be composed mainly of colonizers and communities with an MI close to 5 will be composed mainly by persisters. Nematode functional diversity was estimated using the Index of Trophic Diversity (ITD) as 1 – ITD, where ITD = $\theta_1^2 + \theta_2^2 + \theta_n^2$, θ is the relative contribution of each trophic group to total abundance, and n in the number of trophic groups (Gambi et al. 2003). For n = 4 (as in the present study), values range from 0 (lowest trophic diversity, only one trophic group) to 0.75 (highest trophic diversity, where each of the four trophic groups are equally abundant) (Bianchelli et al. 2013).

2.2.5 Environmental analyses

Granulometric analyses were conducted for each core using a laser particle size analyzer HORIBA LA910. Sediment from the three cruises was classified as (i) very fine silt, (ii) fine silt, (iii) coarse silt, and (iv) very coarse silt. For cruises X-1 and X-2 only the % of sand, silt and clay were determined. Total organic carbon was measured on acidified samples in an elemental analyzer (COSTECHTM) coupled to a continuous flow mass spectrometer Delta VTM with an analytical error of ± 0.05 %. Carbonate values were measured on a coulometer UIC Model 5014 with an analytical error of 0.1%.

Dissolved oxygen was measured by an oxygen sensor (SBE43) connected to a SEABIRD9 CTD which was calibrated with microWinkler measurements on board the ship. The measurements reported were taken usually 20 m above the bottom.

2.2.6 Data analyses

In order to analyze abundance patterns, we first estimated the total abundance from the aliquots analyzed in the X1 cruise. For this we regressed abundance from the entire sample as a function of abundance estimated from the 25% aliquots in cruises X2 and X3, and used the linear equation to estimate total abundance for X1 samples.

The first step to apply the metacommunity theory is to establish if the environmental variables are spatially heterogeneous and to determine if the environmental variability is related to meiobenthic community. Hence, a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was conducted using log-transformed and normalized data. To relate meiobenthic abundance with environmental variables, Canonical Analysis of Principal Coordinates (CAP) was conducted on meiobenthic abundance using the components obtained from PCA. CAP analysis is a constrained ordination analysis that takes into account the correlation structure among the variables in the predictor data (Anderson and Willis 2003) and generates scores that were used in correlation analyses with the total abundance of meiobenthos. Finally, in order to assess spatial autocorrelation of environmental variables, we computed Moran's I Index (Moran 1950) using the package Moran.I in R (Team 2013).

Subsequently, we used PERMANOVA to assess the effect of sampling time and sediment classification on total abundance of the meio- and nemato- fauna. Time was considered as first factor (3 levels: 2010, 2012 and 2013) and sediment classification as second factor (4 levels: very fine silt, fine silt, coarse silt and very coarse silt). A posteriori pair-wise tests were performed to identify significant terms. All analyses were carried out using PRIMER 6 & PERMANOVA+ software packages (Anderson et al. 2008).

2.2.7 β diversity

To evaluate dispersal among communities, β diversity was used as a proxy. The premise being that diversity (i.e., community differentiation) would increase with increasing distance as the result of decreasing dispersal and increasing isolation. Many indices have been proposed to measure β diversity (Koleff et al. 2003). In this paper we analyze β_{cc} as defined by Colwell and Coddington (1994) (Equation (1)), partitioning it into two components: (i) replacement between two sites (β_{-3}) (Equation (2)), and (ii) species richness differences (β_{rich}) (Equation (3)), as proposed by Carvalho et al. (2012). All pairwise β diversity estimates (β_{-3} and β_{-rich}) were correlated to geographic distance between stations through Mantel test using Pearson's correlation with 10000 permutations in R package (Team 2013). The expressions are as in Koleff et al. (2003).

$$\beta_{cc} = \beta_{-3} + \beta_{rich} \tag{1}$$

and

$$\beta_{-3} = 2 x \frac{\min(b,c)}{a+b+c} \tag{2}$$

$$\beta_{rich} = \frac{b-c}{a+b+c} \tag{3}$$

where: *a* is the number of shared genera between sites 1 and 2, *b* is the number of exclusive genera from site 1, and *c* is the number of exclusive genera from site 2.

Because the northwest section of the GoM and the Yucatan Peninsula are only represented by one sampling station each, we performed non-parametric bootstrap to geographically balance the number of samples and increase the number of observations from undersampled regions (namely where A1 and B18

are located) (Huang and Chi 2012). We resampled 1000 random iterations with replacement using the abundance of individual genera to estimate the 95% confidence limits (c.l.) of correlations between beta diversity and geographic distance using R software (Team 2013).

2.2.8 Environmental differences among sampling stations

In order to evaluate if the environmental differences have an effect on nematode communities and identify which metacommunity paradigm may explain our findings, we correlated environmental distance (Euclidean distance) among sampling stations with geographic distance (shorter waterbone distance between any two samples) as well as with β diversity through a Mantel test as in the previous β diversity analyses. First, environmental distance (including all environmental variables) between station pairs was correlated with geographic distance, to test for an environmental gradient. Second, to test if the environmental distance between sampling stations have an effect on community structure, we correlated the environmental distance between sampling stations (calculated from the scores of CAP 1 of X-1 CAP analysis) with β_{cc} diversity. Environmental distance was calculated using PRIMER 6 & PERMANOVA+ software packages (Anderson et al. 2008).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Meiobenthic community

As expected, the regression between abundance from entire samples and from 25% aliquots of X-2 and X-3 was linear, significant ($R^2 = 0.83$; p < 0.01, 95%, Fig. 5), and was used to estimate the abundances for the total of X-1 samples for subsequent analyses.



Figure 5. Regression analysis of meiofaunal abundance in the entire sample (total abundance) against estimated from 25% (aliquot abundance) in samples from X-2 and X-3 cruises to estimate total abundance in X-1 samples. Blue circles: X-2 and Orange circles: X-3.

We identified a total of 17 major taxa (X-1:7; X-2: 12; X-3: 17): Nematoda, Copepoda, Ostracoda, Oligochaeta, Polychaeta, Platyhelminthes, Gastrotricha, Tardigrada, Loricifera, Tanaidacea, Hydrozoa, Nemertea, Isopoda, Asteroidea, Kinorhyncha, Sipuncula and Acari (Appendix 1, App henceforth). Localized temporal variation was evident; for instance, station C22 possessed the highest abundance in X-1 but one of the lowest in X-2; inversely, in station H46 meiofauna abundance increased from X-1 to X-2. In stations A8 and A5, abundance decreased from X-2 to X-3, whereas in station B18 it increased from X-1 to X-3.

Community structure was dominated by nematodes in all samples exceeding 80% in most of them, followed by Copepoda, Platyhelminthes, and Oligochaeta in X-1, and Copepoda and Platyhelminthes in X-2 and X-3, except that in X-3 Platyhelminthes outnumbered Copepoda, whereas the other major taxa were rare in all cruises.

2.3.2 Environmental variation and community correlates

Different environmental characteristics at each sampling station and for each cruise were found, which is one of the prerequisites for SS and ME dynamics (App 2). The first two principal components (PC)

accounted for 73.5% of the variance of environmental variables from X-1; nevertheless, three PC's were significant based on eigenvalues greater than one. PC1 accounted for 53.2% and had negative loadings with longitude, %sand and inorganic carbon, and had positive with depth, %silt, %clay and total organic carbon. PC2 accounted for 20.3% and had negative loading with C/N ratio and positive loadings with latitude, sediment classification and oxygen (Fig. 6a). In the PCA analysis of X-2 environmental variables, the first two components accounted for 66.4% of total variance, although four PC's were significant. PC1 accounted for 43.8% and had negative loadings with %silt, longitude and depth, while PC2 accounted for 22.6% and had negative loading with %sand and positive loadings with total organic carbon and depth (Fig. 6b). Finally, in X-3 the first two components accounted for 71.3% of total variance of environmental variables. PC1 accounted for 43.2%, had negative loading with inorganic carbon, and positive loadings with total organic carbon and depth (Fig. 6b). Finally, in X-3 the first two components accounted for 28.1% and had negative loadings with oxygen, depth and latitude, and a positive loading with carbon/nitrogen ratio (Fig. 6c). PCA results suggest that sediment characteristics (%silt and %sand) and depth are the main environmental factors contributing to environmental heterogeneity among sampling stations.



Figure 6. PCA analysis of environmental variables for each cruise. a) X-1, b) X-2 and c) X-3. C/N: Carbon/Nitrogen ratio, TOC: Total Organic Carbon, IC: Inorganic Carbon, SC: Sediment Classification. Red rectangles mean positive loadings and blue rectangles mean negative loadings.

Meiofaunal abundance correlated significantly with certain CAP scores, with the first in X-1 and with the second in X-3 (Fig. 7). In X-1, the relation was negative (r = -0.76; p < 0.05) and the CAP had negative loadings with inorganic carbon, oxygen and %sand, and positive loadings with depth and latitude (Fig. 7a). In X-3, the relation was positive (r = 0.73; p < 0.05) and the CAP had negative loadings with total organic carbon and depth, and positive loading with inorganic carbon (Fig. 4c). On the other hand, in X-2 the relation was positive and nearly significant (r = 0.48; p = 0.066) (Fig. 7b).



Figure 7. Meiofauna abundance (In) correlated against environmental CAP. a) X-1, b) X-2 and c) X-3. TOC: Total Organic Carbon, IC: Inorganic Carbon. Red rectangles mean positive loadings and blue rectangles mean negative loadings. Loadings in X-2 are not included because the correlation was not significant.

Hence, depth was a factor that correlated significantly with meiobenthos abundance (X-1 and X-2), as expected, and a significant influence of environmental characteristics on total meiobenthic abundance was found as expected for SS or ME metacommunity models.

PERMANOVA analyses revealed significant effects of time x sediment interaction for total meiofaunal abundance (pseudo-F = 3.53, p < 0.05) (Table 1). Pair-wise tests showed that differences in

total abundance were found between X-1/X-3 cruises, and temporal differences involved stations dominated by fine silt (level 2 of the factor "sediment type") located in a sedimentary classified as Marl (Balsam and Beeson 2003), indicating that observed differences occur within and not among sedimentary regions.

| | Source | Df | MS | Pseudo-F | p (perm) |
|---------------------------------------|--------|----|--------|----------|----------|
| Total Abundance by Sample | Cr | 2 | 38.521 | 3.586 | 0.039 |
| | Se | 3 | 20.303 | 1.89 | 0.154 |
| | CrxSe | 3 | 37.973 | 3.535 | 0.027 |
| | Res | 18 | 10.741 | | |
| | Total | 26 | | | |
| Total Abundance of Nematoda by sample | Cr | 2 | 246.4 | 16.814 | 0.0002 |
| | Se | 3 | 12.361 | 0.84351 | 0.502 |
| | CrxSe | 3 | 57.09 | 3.8957 | 0.0246 |
| | Res | 18 | 14.655 | | |
| | Total | 26 | | | |

 Table 1 PERMANOVA summary results for Total Abundance by sample and Total Abundance of Nematoda by sample. Cr: cruise, Se: sediment (4 levels of silt).

2.3.3 Nematofauna

Differences among nematode community structures were found in samples from X-1. A total of 70 genera belonging to 30 families were found of which Cyatholaimidae was the most diverse family, whereas Aphelenchoididae was represented by a single dominant genus (App 3). Forty-nine percent of identified organisms were distributed among 9 genera: *Aphelenchoides*, (12.9%), *Microlaimus* (7%), *Desmoscolex* (6%), *Halalaimus* (5.8%), *Molgolaimus* (3.9%), *Diplopeltula* and *Amphimonhystrella* (3.4% each one), *Aponema* (3.2%) and *Pselionema* (2.9%).

Only three of the most abundant genera were found in all sampling stations: *Microlaimus*, *Desmoscolex*, and *Halalaimus*, and these last two belong to functional group 1A and have an M.I. of 4, which means that they are bacterivorous and persistent genera. Diversity analyses of all nematode

communities indicate that B18 was the most (H' = 5, S = 37) whereas C21 was the least diverse station (H' = 3.8, S = 17) (Table 2).

| Sampling Station | Depth (m) | S | J | H' | |
|------------------|-----------|----|------|------|---|
| A1 | 2416 | 37 | 0.94 | 4.88 | • |
| B18 | 1233 | 39 | 0.94 | 4.98 | |
| C22 | 3569 | 17 | 0.93 | 3.81 | |
| D30 | 3297 | 19 | 0.95 | 4.04 | |
| F39 | 2549 | 22 | 0.85 | 3.77 | |
| G44 | 2464 | 21 | 0.89 | 3.91 | |
| H46 | 2758 | 32 | 0.93 | 4.64 | |

Table 2. Nematode community attributes for XIXIMI-1. S: genera richness, J: equitability, H': Shannon-Wiener diversity (log2).

2.3.4 Index of trophic diversity and maturity stage of communities

Taxonomic differences among nematode community were reflected in differences of trophic diversity and maturity stages. The nematode community with a higher ITD was found in A1, B18 and C22, meanwhile the communities with lowest ITD were found in F39 and H46 (Fig. 8a) and that pattern was not correlated with depth. Functional group 1A was the most abundant (>=50% in all sampling stations) indicating the prevalence of bacterivory as well as algal-derived phytodetritus feeders in those communities, followed by groups 2A, 1B and 2B (Fig. 8b). MI values were higher than 2.6 (G44) but lower than 3.10 (H46) in all communities indicating that their maturity is limited. In other words, they are composed by a mixture of persister and colonizer genera (Fig. 8c). Finally, the MI calculated for each functional group revealed that 1A and 2B are composed by more persistent organisms, as opposed to 1B and 2A groups, composed of a larger fraction of colonizers (Fig. 8d).



Figure 8. Index of trophic diversity (1-ITD) and maturity index (MI) for nematode communities from X-1. a) ITD at each sampling station, b) proportion of trophic groups at each station, c) MI at each sampling station and d) MI at each functional group. In figure b, 1A: selective deposit feeders, 1B: non-selective deposit feeders, 2A: epistrate or epigrowth feeders and 2B: predators/omnovires.

PERMANOVA disclosed significant effects of time x sediment interaction on total abundance of nematodes (pseudo-F = 3.89, p < 0.05) (Table 1). Differences in total abundance were found between X-1/X-3 and X-2/X-3 cruises only for comparisons among stations dominated by fine silt (level 2 of the statistical factor).

2.3.5 β diversity and environmental differences among sampling stations

The β_{-3} index does not appear to bear a significant relationship with geographic distance overall; however, a closer inspection reveals two groups of data, one defined by sampling stations C21, D30, F39, G44 and H46 (group 1, henceforth) and another by stations A1 and B18 (group 2, henceforth). In each of those groups diversity did correlate directly with geographic distance (Fig. 9a) (group 1: r = 0.74, p < 0.05,
bootstrap c.l. 0.40 - 1; group 2: r = 0.65, p < 0.05, bootstrap c.l. 0.18 - 1), suggesting different processes of replacement. β_{rich} showed a positive relation with geographic distance overall (r = 0.65, p < 0.05, bootstrap c.l 0.33 - 0.94) indicating that differences in genus richness increase with geographic separation (Fig. 9b). The total compositional difference among nematode communities β_{cc} did not show a significant relationship with geographical distance (Fig. 9c), but structural differences increase rapidly between nearest sites up to 400 km, after which large differences in community structure are maintained. These patterns reflect a break in β_{-3} , suggesting the existence of different processes acting on the nematode communities at two spatial scales. Hence, results of β diversity indicate that dispersal is limited among sampling stations of the GoM and that community structure is influenced by other ecological process.



Figure 9. β diversity results correlated with geographic distance (Km). a) β_{-3} diversity, b) β_{rich} diversity and c) β_{cc} diversity. In figure a) blue circle include paired comparisons of sampling stations C21, D30, F39, G44 and H46 (group 1) and red circle include comparisons with sampling stations A1 and B18 (group 2).

Environmental distance among sampling stations, including all environmental variables, was positively correlated with geographic distance (Fig. 10a) (r = 0.87, p < 0.01) and all environmental variables did not display a significant spatial autocorrelation (Moran's I between -0.06 and -0.33). This finding indicates that environmental differences increase with an increasing geographic distance between stations. On the other hand, we found a positive correlation between environmental distance and β_{cc} (Fig. 10b) (r = 0.65), p < 0.05). The environmental distance reflects changes in the variables included in the CAP1 of the CAP analysis for X-1. Consequently, this result suggests that differences in community structure (β diversity) are influenced by environmental differences among sampling stations.



Figure 10. Euclidean distance (E. D.) of environmental variables from paired-comparisons of all sampling stations from X-1. a) E.D. including all environmental variables, and b) E.D. of scores from CAP analysis of X-1.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Environmental features of the GoM

Metacommunity theory is based on the notion of spatial heterogeneity in environmental attributes, such as the one found in the GoM. Relevant for the infauna is the existence of sedimentary provinces characterized by different sediment types, such as calcareous and carbonate sands, carbonate mud, terrigenous and hemipelagic sediments (Bouma 1972; Escobar et al. 1997; Escobar-briones et al. 1999; Balsam and Beeson 2003; Escobar-Briones et al. 2008). Our results suggest that sediments sampled at each station represent environments differing in environmental attributes, such as: 1) composition (i.e., percent of sand and silt), 2) organic and inorganic carbon content, 3) oxygen availability of bottom waters and 4) depth (Fig. 6). These factors have been found to contribute to the environmental heterogeneity of other deep-sea sediments, and to have a strong influence on the structure of meiobenthic communities and turnover of nematode assemblages (Gambi et al. 2014; Gambi and Danovaro 2016; Zeppilli et al. 2016). Our results show differences in community structure within the sediment type known as Marl, suggesting that the combination of environmental drivers are modulating the community structure. A patch-mosaic model has been proposed for deep-sea soft-sediment communities to explain the high species richness despite the apparent physical homogeneity (Gallucci et al. 2008; Gallucci et al. 2009). In this model, patches are the result of differential input of organic matter and disturbance. Thus, our results suggest that each sediment core is a sample of a distinct environment, and could also be a sample of a local patch of meiobenthos.

2.4.2 Total community abundance

The association between environmental variables and the structure and function of a community has remained a challenge in ecology; because a variety of drivers can influence community dynamics in different ways. Nevertheless, community patterns found in this research are related to some environmental drivers in consistence with metacommunity theory. Most researchers consider trophic conditions as the main factor that determines meiobenthic abundance. A review analyzing the general patterns of meiobenthos distribution on a global scale found significant positive relationships between chloroplastic pigment equivalents content, organic matter flux and quantity and quality of sedimentary organic matter, related to nematode abundance (Mokievskii et al. 2007; Rosli et al. 2018). Likewise, sediment size and type may be important in structuring meiobenthic communities and in determining seafloor heterogeneity (Zeppilli et al. 2016). In this regard, our results of meiobenthic community abundance showed a significant correlation with these sediment properties (Fig. 4). In general terms, our results show that meiobenthic abundance decreased with increased depth in all cruises, and also increased with increasing total organic carbon in X-3. On the other hand, meiobenthic abundance decreased with decreased sediment size (%sand).

Depth is the main factor influencing the meiobenthic abundance, estimations of particulate organic carbon (POC) flux from surface water of the northern U.S. section of the GoM suggest an export of about ~18 mg C m⁻² day⁻¹ in the NE, 1.85 mg C m⁻² day⁻¹ in the NW and ~9 mg C m⁻² day⁻¹ for the continental slope in the NW section, while in the central Gulf an export of about ~3 mg C m⁻² day⁻¹ has been estimated (Biggs et al. 2008; Stuart et al. 2017). Hence, depth is correlated with a decrease in POC export from surface to the deep-sea and with decreased meiobenthic abundance (Baguley et al. 2006).

2.4.3 Total community structure

Nematoda, Copepoda and Platyhelminthes were the most abundant groups in all sampling periods; whereas Gastrotricha, Oligochaeta, Polychaeta, Loricifera, Tardigrada, among others, were rare, as has been described in other deep-sea sediments (Mokievskii et al. 2007; Rosli et al. 2018). Nematodes have been recognized as the most abundant group in meiobenthic communities, almost always exceeding 75% of the total number of meiobenthic organisms (Giere 2009; Rosli et al. 2018). However, values as low as 50% have been found at depths exceeding 1000m in oligotrophic areas of the central Arctic Basin, in the tropical central part of the Indian Ocean and in the tropical Atlantic (Soltwedel 1997; Ansari 2000; Ingole et al. 2000), with low meiobenthic abundance (<100 ind 10 cm⁻²). In this study, nematode prevalence exceeded 80% and community structure was similar to other deep-sea sediments. In contrast, differences were found among sediment samples characterized by fine silt and belonging to the same sedimentary type within the Gulf (Balsam and Beeson 2003), suggesting that sediment type is not the main factor influencing the community structure, but has a synergic effect with other environmental drivers (Table 1).

2.4.4 Nematode community: Functional and maturity stage

Feeding strategies of nematofauna have been shown to vary with depth, mostly due to morphological differences, as well as their abundance and diversity influenced by organic matter input to the sediment (Sharma et al. 2012). We found that ITD and the proportion of functional groups of nematode communities are similar among samples. Sampling stations with the highest ITD were A1, B18 and C22, which means that the abundance of the four functional groups is more even compared with the other sampling stations, a pattern bearing no association with depth. The fact that most nematodes (>=50% in all sampling stations) belong to group 1A reflects the prevalence of bacterivory in deep-sea communities. It has been suggested that greater ocean depths harbor smaller bacterial cells in benthic environments of the GoM and that bacterial biomass declines significantly with depth (Deming and Carpenter 2008). In contrast, no significant relationship has been found between bacterial abundance and biomass with depth, according to a random forest model for the same region (Wei et al. 2010). The preponderance of trophic group 1A in nematode communities suggests that the trophic web supporting them is based on bacterial production as the most important resource; on the other hand, the MI values between 2.6 and 3.1 of the same communities indicate that they are composed by an admixture of colonizer and persister genera. Nevertheless, the MI of each trophic group revealed that groups 1A and 2B are comprised of more persister and mature genera (Fig. 8d). On the other hand, groups 1B and 2A are characterized by colonizer organisms (Bongers 1990).

On the other hand, the low abundance of the genera belonging to groups 1B, 2A and 2B may reflect the small amount of available resources for those trophic groups, and therefore, the low carrying capacity of the environment.

Although metacommunity theory proposes that community structures could be different depending on environmental features and on ecological processes such as dispersal, the function and maturity stage of the communities we analyzed are similar. This finding suggests that deep-sea meiobenthic functional structure and complexity may be independent of environment or ecological factors.

2.4.5 Nematode community: dispersal and environmental differences

Given the environmental differences among sampling stations, the SS or ME paradigms of metacommunity theory could be evoked to explain the patterns of nematode abundance and community structure (Leibold et al. 2004; Logue et al. 2011). The difference between these paradigms is the relative importance of dispersal; SS assumes that dispersal is sufficiently low to allow species to fill up niches within habitat patches via niche diversification, thereby species may coexist. On the other hand, ME assumes that dispersal among patches is large enough to cancel local dynamics. Deep-sea meiobenthic dispersal rates are unknown; hence, differentiating between SS and ME paradigms remains a considerable challenge. Our results of β diversity analyses suggest a low level of dispersal among nematode communities (Fig. 9c), as it has been already reported for nematodes (Fenchel and Finlay 2004; Leduc et al. 2012), and its partition in replacement and richness suggests that compositional differences among sites (β_{cc}) are the result of different processes governing community structure in different regions of the Gulf (Fig. 9).

Based on our results we may suggest a close relationship between environmental characteristics and nematode community structure (Fig. 10b), this is a significant but not strong asymptotic relation that may suggest that environmental variability and dispersal have a synergic influence on nematode communities. Our results show a geographic separation of sampling stations A1 and B18 with the rest, station B18 is characterized by the highest percent of sand and its sediment was classified as very coarse silt, whereas station A1 was classified as very fine silt. Station B18 is where we found the highest number of genera and exclusive ones (39 and 14 respectively). This is concordant with the observed pattern in shallow waters that sandy sediments shelter higher nematode diversity levels than silt or clay (Giere 2009). On the other hand, the remaining sampling stations have a sediment classified as fine silt, and are located in a sediment region described as marl (Balsam and Beeson 2003), which is an admixture of pelagic carbonate sediment, foraminifers and coccoliths, and terrigenous clay. Thereby, the similarity of communities separated by less than 200 km (Fig. 9c) may be due of sampling stations sharing a similar environmental features but after that, communities may be influenced by a limited, but still present, passive dispersal of organisms.

2.5 Conclusion

Here, we were able to use the metacommunity theory to analyze the meiobenthic and nematode communities of the GoM and to evaluate if communities are influenced by environmental, ecological or a combination of both factors. Our results suggest that based on the predictions of metacommunity theory, nematode communities from the deep GoM may conform to the SS model. This inference is based on the different taxonomic structures among sampling stations correlating with environmental differences, in the presence of local niche diversification and limited dispersal. Our results support the idea that deep-sea meiobenthic communities may be organized as metacommunities, nevertheless further studies at the species level are needed.

Chapter 3. Metabarcoding analysis of the meiofaunal communities from the Gulf of Mexico

3.1 Introduction

The main goal of ecology is the determination of the patterns and forcing of the distribution of species, populations and communities. While it is true that there is still no consensus on the explanation of the patterns found in nature, some theories that try to explain them range from niche theory (Tilman 1982) to neutral theory (Hubbell 2001). For macroscopic organisms (plants and animals) these patterns are understood relatively well; however, for microscopic organisms such as those included in the meiofauna, it still represents a challenge (Lambshead and Boucher 2003). The α and β diversity patterns of meiofauna can be affected by intrinsic characteristics, as well as by external factors. Meiofauna is composed of different phyla that have particular characteristics, among which are (i) short generation time, which is one of the reasons that the meiofauna has a patchy distribution; (ii) absence of a larval stage, which entails a low dispersal potential; (iii) another factor influencing the distribution of communities and their biodiversity is the suite of interactions among populations; it has been described that direct interactions between meiofaunal groups result in competition, niche partition and/or exclusion (Giere 2009). Regarding environmental factors, it has been reported that the frequency of disturbances in the sediment will define the dominant life strategy, in addition, the depth of the water column, type of sediment, and heterogeneity of the marine floor have a significant influence on the abundance and distribution of the meiofauna (Baguley et al. 2006; Giere 2009; Zeppilli et al. 2016).

In recent years, efforts to understand the distribution patterns of meiofauna in the deep ocean have increased, both with traditional and molecular methods (Mokievskii et al. 2007; Bik et al. 2012; Fonseca et al. 2017). These efforts, in turn, have revealed large gaps in the taxonomy of these organisms (Sinniger et al. 2016). Some studies have described that the deep-sea meiofauna have cosmopolitan distributions alluding to the environmental stability of this region of the ocean with respect to shallow sediments. Indeed, it has been reported that the seafloor depth represents a limitation for the distribution of the species, much greater than geographical distance (Pawlowski et al. 2007; Aldea et al. 2008). On the other hand, it has been described for the Mediterranean bathyal sediments that the α diversity patterns follow gradients of trophic conditions (Bianchelli et al. 2013); it has also been described that environmental heterogeneity has a positive influence on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning because this heterogeneity allows different communities along different habitats, thus increasing diversity on a regional scale (Zeppilli et al. 2016). Therefore, the analysis of communities that inhabit sediments with different environmental characteristics and located at different seafloor depths provide an important opportunity to characterize the distribution patterns and, in turn, understand them under the light of environmental variability.

3.1.1 Metabarcoding: biodiversity from DNA

Historically, meiofauna has been studied from the morphological description of organisms; however, the current advent of massive DNA sequencing platforms has been the gateway to the intensive study of biodiversity in microscopic communities. The application of these sequencing techniques to characterize the diversity of an environmental sample has been called "metabarcoding" and has become increasingly important in the description of eukaryotic communities, including the meiofauna (Bik et al. 2012; Fonseca et al. 2014; Lallias et al. 2015). The analysis of these data involves the formation of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) grouping sequences that differ by less than a certain threshold, generally 3% at the species-level; nevertheless, it has recently been proposed that the use of OTUs should be replaced by exact variant sequences (SVs) since they distinguish sequences that differ up to one nucleotide (Callahan et al. 2017). Thus, the SVs have greater sensitivity and specificity than the OTUs and can discriminate community patterns at finer scales.

So far, the research carried out using this approach has generated important information on the distribution of meiofauna at the habitat ($\sim 0.1 - 100$ Km) and regional scales ($\sim 100 - 10,000$ Km), and one of the main results found among samples from the Pacific and Atlantic ocean basins is that the bathymetric gradient has a greater influence than interoceanic geographical separation per se on the distribution of some meiobenthic groups (Bik et al. 2010; Bik et al. 2012).

3.1.2 Sedimentary environments of the Gulf of Mexico

In the GoM, the presence of different physiographic regions is a source of variability of the sedimentary habitat inhabited by meiofauna, each region is defined by the type of predominating sediment: calcareous sands, carbonated sands, carbonated mud, terrigenous and hemipelagic sediments

(Bouma 1972; Martin and Bouma 1978; Escobar et al. 1997; Escobar-briones et al. 1999; Escobar-Briones et al. 2008).

In sedimentary terms, the gulf is basically divided into two primary provinces: terrigenous sediments from the continent to the north and west of the gulf, and carbonate sediments that originate in the Florida and Yucatan continental shelfs (Ward and Tunnell 2017). The sedimentary deposits of the western GoM receive isolated allochthonous contributions while in the Yucatan platform they are autochthonous (Escobar et al. 1997), the western region is the result of several factors: (i) tectonic dynamics, (ii) coastal current, (iii) displacement of sediments from rivers that flow into the gulf whose sediments contribute to the formation of a fringe of terrigenous sandy sediments with a carbon content smaller than 25% (Pica-Granados et al. 1991; Escobar et al. 1997). The continental contribution of the southern region on the continental shelf and slope is insignificant due to the absence of surface rivers and the relief caused by weathering (Bouma 1972; Escobar et al. 1997). On the other hand, the deep environment of the gulf is dominated by sludge in a combination of terrigenous and biogenic sediments that include coccolithophorids, foraminifera, diatoms and radiolaria (Ward and Tunnell 2017).

The investigations on the meiofauna of the GoM have been carried out mostly in the US section. For this region of the GoM, the presence of 21 taxonomic groups has been reported and studies indicate that there is a significant decrease in the abundance and biomass of meiofauna with increasing seafloor depth, as well as a longitudinal gradient resulting from the proximity to the mouth of the Mississippi River (Baguley et al. 2006; Baguley et al. 2008; Sharma et al. 2012; Beaton et al. 2018). In Mexican waters, the study of meiofauna has been scarce; 14 taxonomic groups have been reported and available studies indicate that depth has an effect on abundance, although not significant. Moreover, biomass tends to be higher in the abyssal plain compared to the southwestern region (Escobar et al. 1997; Escobar-Briones et al. 2008). Regarding the nematofauna, the presence of 86 genera and 96 species in the Campeche bank have been reported, which are distributed according to the sediment (de Jesús-Navarrete 1993). On the other hand, a research conducted by Soto and coworkers (2017) did explore the nematode genera in deep sediments after the oil spill of the Deep Water Horizon platform in 2010. Results indicates that the amount of genera in 2010, 2011 and 2012 were 48, 23 and 51 respectively.

Due to the scarcity of information on meiofauna in the Mexican section of the GoM and the sediments characteristics of its physiographic regions, in this research we address the following questions: What is the structure of the meiofaunal community in different geographical areas of the Gulf of Mexico? Is there dispersal between these areas? To answer these questions, the meiofaunal community was

evaluated in three geographic areas from the GoM: the Yucatan continental shelf, the northwest slope and shelf (Perdido), and the deep-sea, using metabarcoding. Our hypothesis is that each of the environments will shelter different communities and that dispersal between them is very low.

3.2 Material and Methods

3.2.1 Sampling

The gulf was sampled in 4 regions of the Mexican exclusive economic zone: deep sea, northwestern slope and shelf ("Perdido region" henceforth) and Yucatan platform, in the oceanographic campaigns XIXIMIs, Perdido and GOMEX, repectively (Figure 11). The first was led by the Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior de Ensenada (CICESE) while the second and third were by the Centro de Investigación y Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional (CINVESTAV), on board the R/V Justo Sierra (Universidad Nacional Autónoma de Mexico). A total of 128 sediment cores were collected during the 3 campaigns: 62 cores from the deep sea (966 - 3739 m depth, average 2858 m \pm 927 m SD) during six XIXIMI campaigns between November 2010 and August 2017; 48 cores from the Perdido region (44 - 3466 m depth, average 1281 m \pm 1034 m SD) during the two Perdido campaigns in May and November 2016, and 18 cores in the Yucatan platform (16 - 220 m depth, average 73 m \pm 54 m SD) in August-September of 2016 (App. 4).





For the deep sea, samples were taken using 2 devices: (i) box-corer from which cylindrical sediment cores were subsampled with an acrylic core (internal diameter 8.1 cm) and (ii) multicorer device (internal diameter 10 cm). In the Perdido region, the sediment was collected using a 60 x 60 x 40 cm Hessler-Sanders dredger while a Smith-Mcintyre dredger was used in the Yucatan platform; in both campaigns, cylindrical corers were subsampled with a 10 cm diameter core. All sediment cores were frozen at -20°C. Due to sampling constraints, only one core was collected at each station.

3.2.2 DNA extraction

Environmental DNA was extracted from 1.25g (wet weight: in 5 extraction replicates of 0.25g each) of sediment using a modified protocol from the PowerSoil DNA extraction kit (MoBio, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Briefly, in order to increase the amount of DNA recovered, two incubation steps were carried out

overnight and all the DNA was filtered through a single recovery filter (Spin Filter).

3.2.3. Sequencing and bioinformatic pipeline

The amplification, purification and sequencing of the DNA was carried out following the protocol of the "Earth Microbiome Project" for amplicons of the 18S gene (www.earthmicrobiomeproject.org). The V9 region (~260 pb) of the minor subunit of RNA (18S SSU rRNA) was amplified with primers Euk_1389f and Euk_1510r. Sequencing of amplicons was performed on the Illumina HiSeq 2500 platform for 250 bp reads in paired-end sequencing.

After demultiplexing, a table of Sequence Variants was created, analogous to the classic OTU table, following the pipeline DADA2 1.2 implemented in QIIME2. Briefly, the forward and reverse reads were truncated at 200 base pairs based on the quality profiles and the reads were grouped into unique SVs (Callahan et al. 2017). The final SVs in all samples were inferred using a custom parametric error model for each data set. The forward and reverse reads were then merged and a sequence table was constructed with a count of each SV per sample. The DADA2 pipeline fuses the sequences (fordward + reverse), eliminates noisy sequences, eliminates chimeras and infers the sequences of each sample (Callahan et al. 2016).

The taxonomic classification of the SVs was carried out using the BLAST algorithm for each SV, against the SILVA 128 18S SSU rRNA database with the assign-taxonomy_with_BLAST.py script. The taxonomic classification was carried out at the level of phylum, family and species, with consensus BLAST identity percentages higher than 90, 93 and 97%, respectively. These thresholds were chosen based on literature examining simulated communities of benthic metazoans (Brown et al. 2015; Holovachov 2016). Before ecological analyzes, all SVs of non-metazoan organisms were eliminated from the SV table.

3.2.4 Ecological analyses

For all ecological analyzes the continental shelf in the Perdido region was considered up to 200m deep and the sites located at greater depths were considered as continental slope. To answer the study questions we first assessed the structures of the communities in the 4 regions from three perspectives: (i) proportion of the major taxonomic groups, (ii) similarity between the community structures and (iii) phylogenetic relationships. The last two were evaluated at SVs level.

First, a normalization of the number of reads was performed for all the samples in the SVs table. This standardization was done with the Qiime diversity core-metrics-phylogenetic script in QIIME2, which calculates a set of diversity measures (phylogenetic and non-phylogenetic) from the "feature table".

The similarity of the meiofaunal communities among the 4 regions of the GoM at the level of major taxonomic groups was evaluated with the analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) with "geographic region" as a fixed factor. The similarity of the 4 regions considering the whole community at SVs level was evaluated through a canonical analysis of principal components (CAP) (Anderson and Willis 2003) according to the proportion of each of the SVs as well as to their presence/absence using the Bray-Curtis and Jaccard indexes, respectively. Significance was evaluated using the software PRIMER 6 and PERMANOVA + (Anderson et al. 2008). Because the 4 regions of the GoM cover different depths, to assess the effect of this factor on meiofaunal communities, a Mantel test ("RELATE") with 4,999 permutations based on distance matrix of depth and community composition (Jaccard) was performed using PRIMER.

In order to evaluate if phylogenetic distances between sequences are greater within or between the 4 regions of the GoM, the UniFraq method was used for all the SVs. This method allows to calculate the differences between microbial communities based on phylogenetic information (Lozupone and Knight 2005). It can be used to determine if one community is significantly different from another by comparing many communities simultaneously using grouping and ordination techniques. The distances calculated with UniFrac are based on two approaches: (i) unweighted, which considers only the presence/absence of the sequences or (ii) weighted, which considers the sum of the counts of the sequences. The distances between communities were also evaluated through CAP analysis and its significance through ANOSIM. To assess the effect of depth of seafloor on phylogenetic relations among all SVs, a Mantel test was performed as previously described.

To assess dispersal among communities, the PERMDISP routine was used with all the SVs. The result of this analysis was used to evaluate if the spatial structure of the meiofaunal community was homogeneous throughout the Gulf or if there are differences between the 3 regions. For this analysis, the average dissimilarity was used as an indicator of multivariate dispersal (i.e., β diversity; Anderson et al. 2006; Anderson et al. 2011). This analysis infers the existence of dispersal if no significant differences are found among GoM regions.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Sequencing

The total number of reads product of the sequencing was 9,070,545 which was reduced to 4,500,094 grouped in 15,933 SVs after the quality control and the elimination of chimaeras with DADA2. Of these reads, 947,033 correspond to metazoans among which 437,416 belonged to meiofaunal taxa and were grouped into a total of 3,439 SVs. After the normalization of the number of sequences, 8 samples possessing insufficient reads were eliminated for consecutive analyzes (2 from Yucatan, 2 from Perdido and 4 from deep-sea); therefore, all analyzes were performed with 120 sampling stations.

3.3.2 Comparison of the 3 geographic areas

In total 12 large groups were found throughout the GoM, of which Nematoda was dominant in Perdido and the deep sea whereas Annelida dominated in Yucatan (Figure 12). In the Perdido region it is possible to identify different patterns between the two cruises, which reflect the depths covered in each of them, having in Perdido 1 greater coverage of deep sediments (more than 65% > 1000m deep) compared to Perdido 2 (less than 45% > 1000m depth – App 4). This cruise has more similarity with the deep sea community. The similarity analysis revealed significant differences among community structures of geographic regions (R Global = 0.166, p <0.05) except between Perdido (Cruise 1) and the deep sea.



Figure 12. Meiofaunal major taxonomic groups found at each geographic region in the Gulf of Mexico.

CAP analysis revealed significant differences among the community structures of the gulf regions for the Bray-Curtis and Jaccard indices (Global R = 0.597, p < 0.05; Global R = 0.272, p < 0.05, respectively, Figure 13a and b), except for northwestern shelf and slope regions (R = 0.013, p > 0.05; R = 0.025, p > 0.05, respectively). This indicates that the two regions from Perdido harbor a meiofaunal community distinct from those of Yucatán and the deep-sea, both in their quantitative structure (considering the number of sequences found - Bray-Curtis index) and in their taxonomic list (presence/absence - Jaccard index). The Mantel test revealed a significant correlation between community composition (presence/absence) and depth of seafloor although the correlation was not strong (r = 0.24, p < 0.05).

The differences among communities from the geographical regions were also manifested in their phylogenetic relationships and follow the same pattern as quantitative and presence/absence results. The CAP analysis based on the unweighted UniFrac indicated a significant separation among the regions, considering both regions of Perdido as one (Global R = 0.186, p < 0.05, Figure 13c). This result suggests that there are ecological processes within each area that have allowed the co-evolution of these

communities. On the other hand, the CAP analysis based on the weighted UniFrac did not reveal significant differences (Global R = -0.003, p > 0.1), which suggests that the more abundant SVs are also distributed in the 3 geographical areas of the GoM. As for the community composition, the Mantel test showed a significant correlation between phylogenetic distances and depth (r = 0.138, p < 0.05).



Figure 13. CAP analysis of communities of each geographic region into the Gulf of Mexico. a) Bray-Curtis index, b) Jaccard index based on presence/absence, c) unweighted UniFrac and d) weighted UniFrac. Green triangles: Yucatan shelf, light blue squares: Norwestern shelf, blue inverted triangles: Northwestern slope and red diamonds: Deepsea.

3.3.3 Dispersal

The PERMDISP analysis for the community revealed significant differences between the GoM

regions according to the taxonomic list (Jaccard) (F = 27.62, p < 0.01); the differences were found between the deep sea and Yucatan (t = 5.61, p > 0.01) on the one hand, and the deep sea and northwestern shelf and slope, on the other (t = 7.87, p > 0.001; t = 7.27, p > 0.001 respectively) (Figure 14), but not between Yucatán and Perdido.



Figure 14. Multivariate dispersion index (PERMDISP) of the communities of the 3 geographic areas in the Gulf of Mexico. Same symbols indicate significant differences.

This suggests that there are shared SVs between the Yucatán and Perdido regions possibly by passive dispersal and/or because the sites of both continental shelves are at the same depth (71.65m \pm 40.25 and 77.34m \pm 25.98 for Yucatán and Perdido shelf respectively). On the other hand, the same analysis based on phylogenetic distances also revealed significant differences (F = 3.21, p < 0.05) between Yucatan and the deep-sea, which indicates that these two regions have different evolutionary histories. Moreover, the SVs found in Yucatán are genetically similar to Perdido (t = 0.58, p = 0.62 for NW shelf and t = 1.91, p = 0.09 for NW slope), which is consistent with the Jaccard result, but also, the SVs of Perdido and the deep-sea are similar (t = 1.90, p = 0.16 for NW shelf and t = 0.55, p = 0.62 for NW slope), which suggests that, although there are low levels of within-region variation (compared to among them), and the communities of each geographic region are particular, the Perdido region is an intermediate evolutionary region between Yucatan and the deep sea, besides it suggests that lineages from these two

geographic regions have not yet significantly diverged from Perdido.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Environments

Among all the reported relationships of the marine meiofauna and the environment, the depth of the seafloor is a consistently influential factor in the structure of the benthos, in addition to the sedimentary characteristics. It has been described for oceanic environments that the abundance and community structure of the meiofauna varies in response to the decrease of the exported particulate organic carbon at increasing depths (Giere 2009; Bik et al. 2012; Bianchelli et al. 2013; Bianchelli et al. 2015; Gambi and Danovaro 2016).

Our observations indicate that the structure of the meiofauna differs among the regions of the GoM, the wide geographic coverage of the sampling within the GoM suggests that differences between geographic areas play an important role in the community structures. Although the dispersal of the data between regions is greater than within them, the large scatter of the observations in the Perdido region could be associated to the fact that this region had the greatest bathymetric amplitude between the sampling stations (App 4.1, Figure 13a and b). Sites from Perdido covered the continental shelf and slope what is reflected in the wide scatter of the observations, nevertheless, communities from shelf and slope showed a smaller variation between them than compared with the other regions of the GoM. Otherwise, even though there is a correlation between depth of seafloor and community composition (Mantel test results), and sites from Perdido encompass a wide bathymetric gradient, communities within this region were not significantly different, suggesting that a regional scale the northwestern shelf and slope could be considered as a one independent region (Fig 13 and ANOSIM results). Rosli et al., (2018) mention that the greatest variability in the community attributes of the meiofauna, such as structure, diversity and abundance, is generally observed at a regional scale (100 - 10,000 km) and in the bathymetric gradient (Rosli et al. 2018).

The geographic areas analyzed in this investigation represent very different environments within the Gulf of Mexico. The depth of each of them (App 4), sediment type and the amount of organic matter coming from the surface allow these environments to shelter different biological communities (Bouma 1972; Martin and Bouma 1978; Pica-Granados et al. 1991; Escobar et al. 1997; Ward and Tunnell 2017).

It has been described that differences in the abundance of the meiofauna between regions of the ocean are often associated with differences in productivity regimes (Fonseca and Soltwedel 2009; Gambi et al. 2014). The availability of food in the sediment is related to the flow of organic carbon from the surface of the ocean, which in turn has an effect on the abundance of the meiofauna (Ingels et al. 2009). In this regard, our results shown that there is a bathymetric signal on community structure (quantitative and compositional) that could be related to the input of organic matter from surface waters. Nevertheless, the differences among regions based on ANOSIM analysis could be associated with environmental differences, therefore, it is difficult to suggest the relative importance of depth with respect to the particular environmental variables of each region not considered here. Furthermore, there is a clear but not significant separation between communities from northwestern shelf and slope and that separation could be given by a narrow range of environmental variability compared with the one that exist with Yucatan and the deep sea. In this regard, a research conducted on free-living marine nematodes sampled on the shelf break (300-400m) and upper slope (1000m) of the western Iberian margin to assess the influence of environmental drivers on spatial variability of nematofauna showed that the higher diversity and variability in community structure at the shelf break compared with the upper slope was related to food availability and sediment heterogeneity. Moreover, community differences were more pronounced between shelf and slope than within them, nevertheless this low variability was explained by environmental changes. They concluded that changes in community structure are influenced by environmental factors rather that spatial differences (Lins et al. 2017).

Bik and coworkers (2012) evaluated microbial eukaryotic communities (protists, fungi, nematodes, among other groups) in a bathymetric gradient and between ocean basins (Pacific and Atlantic) and they identified a low genetic divergence between geographically remote sites, which they attributed to a short coalescence time between deep sea regions or at low evolutionary rates at these depths; however, the phylogenetic differences between shallow and deep sites of the same basin were much greater.

Our results indicate that the communities from Yucatan and deep-sea differ significantly in the phylogenetic distances between them, but not with the Perdido region suggesting that the coalescence time between Yucatan-Perdido and deep-sea-Perdido has not been long enough to produce a divergence between their lineages, a similar pattern to that reported by Bik et al. (2012) between Pacific and Atlantic ocean basins. This result also suggests that it is not possible to elucidate a bathymetric effect on meiofaunal phylogenetic relationships at habitat scale but it is possible at regional scale. On the other

hand, the deep-sea sampling stations are separated from each other by up to 1000 km, however the genetic distance between 18S sequences is lower compared to those from Perdido and Yucatán regions (Figure 13c), which could suggest that the deep-sea is a much more stable environment than the other regions, allowing a slower rate of meiofaunal divergence. For marine habitats, it has already been described that the vertical gradient limits the distribution of the species (Aldea et al. 2008) apparently much more than the horizontal geographical distance (Pawlowski et al. 2007), what is concordant with the fact that the geographic regions analyzed here differ among them in the depth of water column (App 4), particularly the differences between Yucatan and deep-sea.

It has been proposed that the deep sea has a static nature, without much variability and that this condition could allow rates of molecular evolution to be slower. However, studies have shown that the deep sea is a very dynamic environment with particularities from geological environments to biological processes that make it an environment very different from other marine ecosystems (Ramirez-Llodra et al. 2010; Danovaro et al. 2014). Sediment heterogeneity (Zeppilli et al. 2016) and the amount of organic carbon (Baguley et al. 2006) have been found to influence meiofauna biodiversity; moreover, community structures can be defined by local environmental characteristics (Cisterna-Céliz et al. 2018). However, results reported here suggest that the deep sea dynamics of the GoM are slower than in the shallower Yucatan and Perdido regions. In the Yucatan region, during intense wind events known as "Nortes" the speed of the current along the coast is very high, which enhances the mix between the coast and the deeper shelf, which in turn plays an important role in the transport of sediment along the Yucatan platform (Torres-Freyermuth et al. 2017). On the other hand, the Perdido region is characterized by a narrow continental margin and an abrupt slope where the "Cordilleras Mexicanas" are found, which are parallel foldings to the coastline and which act as a continental sediment barriers. The region is also under the influence of surface hydrographic dynamics, particularly of the mesoscale rings released by the Loop current, which generate a high primary productivity by upwelling in the continental shelf break; moreover, a layer of minimum oxygen zone has been identified in the upper slope (Vidal et al. 1994; Escobar et al. 1997; Escobar-briones et al. 1999). Our results support our working hypothesis, since each of these three environments of the gulf harbor differing meiofaunal communities.

3.4.2 Dispersal

Meiofauna has been described as a ubiquitous ecological group despite having a low dispersal

potential due to the lack of a larval stage in its life cycle (Giere 2009). It has been described that this cosmopolitan distribution is due to the presence of cryptic speciation which has been proposed for some coastal and continental shelf taxa (Derycke et al. 2007; Derycke et al. 2008; Giere 2009; Hauquier et al. 2017).

Our results suggest that there is dispersal between Yucatan and Perdido (Figure 14 – Jaccard) but that is not enough to influence community structures (Figure 13a and b). For the meiofauna, the investigations that evaluate dispersal present contrasting results. A low level of endemism with high interchange between shallow and deep sea habitats has been reported for enoplid nematodes (Bik et al. 2010). Besides, for deep-sea nematodes it has been described that the dispersal potential is low, alluding to the characteristics of life history; however, the dispersal capacity in this group is still unsuspected (Lambshead and Boucher 2003). On the other hand, the similarity between Yucatan and Perdido could be related to the fact that the shallow samples of Perdido shelf are located at the same depth of Yucatan (App 4) and the meiofaunal organisms could be adapted to this environment.

The phylogenetic distances among the SVs of the regions of the Gulf of Mexico suggest a similarity between Perdido and the deep-sea (Figure 14 – unweighted UniFrac). The lack of significant phylogenetic differences between these two regions and the dispersal between them inferred by the Jaccard index, suggests that there is passive dispersal among the communities of these regions and that the lineages have not yet diverged. A recent investigation conducted in the Southern ocean continental shelf sediments, revealed that horizontal and spatial structuring was found in response to local environmental conditions among sites separated from 15km to 2300km, in combination with dispersal limitation in nematodes (Hauquier et al. 2018) what is concordant with the results found in our research. Nevertheless, in some cases, molecular studies confirmed the existence of large-scale distribution despite lack of active means of dispersal, and others reveal a more restricted distribution related with low dispersal potential (Curini-Galletti et al. 2012; Casu et al. 2014).

One of the most broadly discussed hypothesis of the biodiversity of small organisms is Baas-Becking hypothesis "everything is everywhere, but the environment selects" (Baas-Becking 1934). This hypothesis has been tested on meiofauna through morphological and molecular methods and the results indicates that there are geological and ecological processes that act as barriers of dispersal and/or gene flow in marine environments (Bik et al. 2012; Leasi et al. 2016; Randsø et al. 2018). Our results support this hypothesis since we were able to find different communities, slow dispersal and our results suggest slow coalescence time among lineages from geographic regions within the Gulf.

Therefore, it is possible to suggest that dispersal does not play an active role as a mechanism in the structure of the communities of these three regions of the Gulf of Mexico.

3.5 Conclusion

The Gulf of Mexico represents a very important ocean basin to evaluate the effect of the environment on the structure of biological communities. In this research it is possible to observe that the bathymetric differences of each region and its particular environmental characteristics have a significant effect on meiofaunal communities, moreover they have an influence on phylogenetic relations and that dispersal does not play an active role in structuring these communities.

Meiofauna is one of the least studied ecological groups and represents an important pillar in the ecology of the communities associated to marine sediments, not only in the interactions between their constituent taxa, but also between them and the macro and microfauna.

In the present research we were able to learn about the abundance and distribution patterns of meiofauna in sediments from the Gulf of Mexico under morphological and molecular approaches, and relate them to environmental characteristics. The results of our research allow us to propose some conclusions:

- 1.- The abundance of meiofauna of deep-sea sediments from GoM is influenced by environmental variability of the Gulf. For instance the abundance decreases with increasing seafloor depth and with decreasing percentage of sand in the sediments. This indicates that the amplitude of environmental variability at depths below of 1500m is high enough to influence this community attribute.
- 2.- Functionally, deep water nematofauna is dominated by bacterivores in the GoM. This result is consistent with the poor primary productivity of surface waters, the small amount of particulate organic carbon exported to the seafloor, and with values the abundance and availability of bacterial communities.
- 3.- Functional structure of nematofauna does not change among different geographic sites of the deepsea sediments of the GoM. It suggests that this community attribute is stable despite the fact that the communities are composed of different nematode genera.
- 4.- The nematofauna is composed of an admixture of colonizer and persister genera throughout the GoM; nevertheless, the most abundant functional group (bacterivores) is composed mainly by persister genera. This result suggests the existence of environmental perturbations affecting communities but its influence is not the same on all functional groups.
- 5.- Phylogenetically, the meiofauna of the geographic region of Perdido is more closely related to Yucatan and deep-sea, than these two regions are to each other. Thereby it is possible to suggest that Perdido acts as an intermediate evolutionary region between Yucatan and deep-sea and that the lineages of these two regions has not yet diverged from Perdido.

- 6.- Dispersal is not large enough to influence meiofaunal community structure but the variability in environmental characteristics is. It is possible for us to suggest that dispersal among patches from deep-sea is limited and much more among geographic areas, and the structures of communities respond to both, habitat and regional environmental characteristics.
- 7.- Based on the wide spatial coverage of this research, our results can be considered as baseline of meiofauna within the Gulf of Mexico. We were able to describe meiofaunal community at a large scale within the GoM and it is the first research in the Mexican exclusive economic zone that incorporates a large number of samples and in such a wide geographic area.

- Aldea C, Olabarria C, Troncoso JS (2008) Bathymetric zonation and diversity gradient of gastropods and bivalves in West Antarctica from the South Shetland Islands to the Bellingshausen Sea. Deep Sea Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 55:350–368. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2007.12.002
- Anderson MJ, Crist TO, Chase JM, et al (2011) Navigating the multiple meanings of β diversity: a roadmap for the practicing ecologist. Ecol Lett 14:19–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01552.x
- Anderson MJ, Ellingsen KE, McArdle BH (2006) Multivariate dispersion as a measure of beta diversity. Ecol Lett 9:683–693. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00926.x
- Anderson MJ, Gorley RN, Clarke KR (2008) PERMANOVA+ for PRIMER: Guide to software and statistical methods. Plymouth
- Anderson MJ, Willis TJ (2003) Canonical Analysis of Principal Coordinates: a useful method of constrained ordination for ecology. Ecology 84:511–525. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[0511:CAOPCA]2.0.CO;2
- Ansari ZA (2000) Distribution of Deep-Sea Benthos in the Proposed Mining Area of Central Indian Basin. Mar Georesources Geotechnol 18:201–207. doi: 10.1080/10641190009353788
- Baas-Becking L (1934) Geobiologie of inleiding tot de milieukunde. Den Haag : W.P. Van Stockum & Zoon, 1934, The Hague, The Netherlands
- Baguley JG, Montagna P a., Hyde LJ, et al (2006) Metazoan meiofauna abundance in relation to environmental variables in the northern Gulf of Mexico deep sea. Deep Sea Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 53:1344–1362. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2006.05.012
- Baguley JG, Montagna P a., Hyde LJ, Rowe GT (2008) Metazoan meiofauna biomass, grazing, and weightdependent respiration in the Northern Gulf of Mexico deep sea. Deep Sea Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2607–2616. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.07.010
- Balsam WL, Beeson JP (2003) Sea-floor sediment distribution in the Gulf of Mexico. Deep Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 50:1421–1444. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2003.06.001
- Balsamo M, Semprucci F, Frontalini F, Coccioni R (2012) Meiofauna as a Tool for Marine Ecosystem Biomonitoring. In: Cruzado A (ed) Marine Ecosystems InTech.
- Beaton KR, Sharma J, Jones CM, et al (2018) Nematode assemblages in the Gulf of Mexico continental shelf collected during a two-year survey. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 502:71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2017.08.006
- Bianchelli S, Gambi C, Mea M, et al (2013) Nematode diversity patterns at different spatial scales in bathyal sediments of the Mediterranean Sea. Biogeosciences 10:5465–5479. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-5465-2013
- Bianchelli S, Pusceddu A, Buschi E, Danovaro R (2015) Trophic status and meiofauna biodiversity in the Northern Adriatic Sea: insights for the assessment of good environmental status. Mar Environ Res 113:18–30. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2015.10.010

- Biggs DC, Hu C, Müller-Karger FE (2008) Remotely sensed sea-surface chlorophyll and POC flux at Deep Gulf of Mexico Benthos sampling stations. Deep Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2555–2562. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.07.013
- Bik HM, Sung W, De Ley P, et al (2012) Metagenetic community analysis of microbial eukaryotes illuminates biogeographic patterns in deep-sea and shallow water sediments. Mol Ecol 21:1048–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05297.x
- Bik HM, Thomas WK, Lunt DH, Lambshead PJD (2010) Low endemism, continued deep-shallow interchanges, and evidence for cosmopolitan distributions in free-living marine nematodes (order Enoplida). BMC Evol Biol 10:389. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-10-389
- Boeckner MJ, Sharma J, Proctor HC (2009) Revisiting the meiofauna paradox: dispersal and colonization of nematodes and other meiofaunal organisms in low- and high-energy environments. Hydrobiologia 624:91–106. doi: 10.1007/s10750-008-9669-5
- Bongers T (1990) The maturity index: an ecological measure of environmental disturbance based on nematode species composition. Oecologia 83:14–19. doi: 10.1007/BF00324627
- Bongers T, Alkemade R, Yeates GW (1991) Interpretation of disturbance-induced maturity decrease in marine nematode assemblages by means of the Maturity Index. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 76:135–142. doi: 10.3354/meps076135
- Bongers T, Bongers M (1998) Functional diversity of nematodes. Appl Soil Ecol 10:239–251. doi: 10.1016/S0929-1393(98)00123-1
- Bouma AH, Roberts HH, Coleman JM (1990) Acoustical and geological characteristics of near-surface sediments, upper continental slope of northern Gulf of Mexico. Geo-Marine Lett 10:200–208. doi: 10.1007/BF02431066
- Bouma HA (1972) Distribution of sediments and sedimentary structures in the Gulf of México. In: Rezak R, Henry VJ (eds) Contributions on the geological and geophysical oceanography of the Gulf of Mexico. Gulf Pub. Co., Houston, Tex, p 303
- Brown EA, Chain FJJ, Crease TJ, et al (2015) Divergence thresholds and divergent biodiversity estimates: can metabarcoding reliably describe zooplankton communities? Ecol Evol 5:2234–2251. doi: 10.1002/ece3.1485
- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Holmes SP (2017) Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. ISME J 11:2639–2643. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2017.119
- Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, et al (2016) DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods 13:581–583. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Camus PA, Lima M (2002) Populations, metapopulations, and the open-closed dilemma: the conflict between operational and natural population concepts. Oikos 97:433–438. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.970313.x
- Carvalho JC, Cardoso P, Gomes P (2012) Determining the relative roles of species replacement and species richness differences in generating beta-diversity patterns. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 21:760–771. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00694.x

- Casu M, Scarpa F, Delogu V, et al (2014) Biodiversity patterns in interstitial marine microturbellaria: a case study within the genus Parotoplana (Platyhelminthes: Rhabditophora) with the description of four new species. J Zool Syst Evol Res 52:190–202. doi: 10.1111/jzs.12058
- Cisterna-Céliz JA, Marcelino-Barros M, Herguera JC, Rocha-Olivares A (2018) Metacommunity analysis of meiobenthos of deep-sea sediments from the Gulf of Mexico. Mar Biodivers. doi: 10.1007/s12526-018-0899-0
- Colwell RK, Coddington JA (1994) Estimating Terrestrial Biodiversity through Extrapolation. Philos Trans Biol Sci 345:101–118.
- Curini-Galletti M, Artois T, Delogu V, et al (2012) Patterns of Diversity in Soft-Bodied Meiofauna: Dispersal Ability and Body Size Matter. PLoS One 7:e33801. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033801
- Danovaro R, Gambi C (2002) Biodiversity and trophic structure of nematode assemblages in seagrass systems : evidence for a coupling with changes in food availability. Mar Biol 141:667–677. doi: 10.1007/s00227-002-0857-y
- Danovaro R, Gambi C, Lampadariou N, Tselepides A (2008) Deep-sea nematode biodiversity in the Mediterranean basin: testing for longitudinal, bathymetric and energetic gradients. Ecography (Cop) 080304020349105. doi: 10.1111/j.2007.0906-7590.05484.x
- Danovaro R, Snelgrove PVR, Tyler P (2014) Challenging the paradigms of deep-sea ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 29:465–475. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2014.06.002
- De Jesús-Navarrete A (1993) Distribución, abundancia y diversidad de los nematodos (phylum Nematoda) bénticos de la Sonda de Campeche, México. Enero 1987. Rev Biol Trop 41:57–63.
- de Jonge VN, Bouwman LA (1977) A simple density separation technique for quantitative isolation of meiobenthos using the colloidal silica Ludox-TM. Mar Biol 42:143–148. doi: 10.1007/BF00391564
- Deming JW, Carpenter SD (2008) Factors influencing benthic bacterial abundance, biomass, and activity on the northern continental margin and deep basin of the Gulf of Mexico. Deep Sea Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2597–2606. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.07.009
- Derycke S, Backeljau T, Moens T (2013) Dispersal and gene flow in free-living marine nematodes. Front Zool 10:1. doi: 10.1186/1742-9994-10-1
- Derycke S, Backeljau T, Vlaeminck C, et al (2007) Spatiotemporal analysis of population genetic structure in Geomonhystera disjuncta (Nematoda, Monhysteridae) reveals high levels of molecular diversity. Mar Biol 151:1799–1812. doi: 10.1007/s00227-007-0609-0
- Derycke S, Fonseca G, Vierstraete A, et al (2008) Disentangling taxonomy within the Rhabditis (Pellioditis) marina (Nematoda, Rhabditidae) species complex using molecular and morhological tools. Zool J Linn Soc 152:1–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1096-3642.2007.00365.x
- Dimitriadis C, Koutsoubas D (2011) Functional diversity and species turnover of benthic invertebrates along a local environmental gradient induced by an aquaculture unit: the contribution of species dispersal ability and rarity. Hydrobiologia 670:307–315. doi: 10.1007/s10750-011-0668-6
- Ellingsen K (2002) Soft-sediment benthic biodiversity on the continental shelf in relation to environmental variability. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 232:15–27.

- Escobar-briones E, Signoret M, Hernández M (1999) Variación de la densidad de la infauna macrobéntica en un gradiente batimétrico: Oeste del Golfo de México. Ciencias Mar 25:193–212.
- Escobar-Briones EG, Díaz C, Legendre P (2008) Meiofaunal community structure of the deep-sea Gulf of Mexico: Variability due to the sorting methods. Deep Sea Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2627–2633. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.07.012
- Escobar E, López M, Soto L, Signoret M (1997) Density and biomass of the meiofauna of the upper continental slope in two regions of the Gulf of Mexico. Ciencias Mar 23:463–489.
- Fenchel T, Finlay BJ (2004) The Ubiquity of Small Species: Patterns of Local and Global Diversity. Bioscience 54:777–784. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0777:TUOSSP]2.0.CO;2
- Fonseca G, Soltwedel T (2009) Regional patterns of nematode assemblages in the Arctic deep seas. Polar Biol 32:1345–1357. doi: 10.1007/s00300-009-0631-4
- Fonseca VG, Carvalho GR, Nichols B, et al (2014) Metagenetic analysis of patterns of distribution and diversity of marine meiobenthic eukaryotes. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 23:1293–1302. doi: 10.1111/geb.12223
- Fonseca VG, Sinniger F, Gaspar JM, et al (2017) Revealing higher than expected meiofaunal diversity in Antarctic sediments: a metabarcoding approach. Sci Rep 7:6094. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06687-x
- Fontana G, Ugland KI, Gray JS, et al (2008) Influence of rare species on beta diversity estimates in marine benthic assemblages. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 366:104–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.07.014
- Fraschetti S, Guarnieri G, Gambi C, et al (2016) Impact of offshore gas platforms on the structural and functional biodiversity of nematodes. Mar Environ Res 115:56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.02.001
- Gallucci F, Moens T, Fonseca G (2009) Small-scale spatial patterns of meiobenthos in the Arctic deep sea. Mar Biodivers 39:9–25. doi: 10.1007/s12526-009-0003-x
- Gallucci F, Moens T, Vanreusel A, Fonseca G (2008) Active colonisation of disturbed sediments by deepsea nematodes: Evidence for the patch mosaic model. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 367:173–183. doi: 10.3354/meps07537
- Gambi C, Danovaro R (2016) Biodiversity and life strategies of deep-sea meiofauna and nematode assemblages in the Whittard Canyon (Celtic margin, NE Atlantic Ocean). Deep Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 108:13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2015.12.001
- Gambi C, Pusceddu A, Benedetti-Cecchi L, Danovaro R (2014) Species richness, species turnover and functional diversity in nematodes of the deep Mediterranean Sea: Searching for drivers at different spatial scales. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 23:24–39. doi: 10.1111/geb.12094
- Gambi C, Vanreusel A, Danovaro R (2003) Biodiversity of nematode assemblages from deep-sea sediments of the Atacama Slope and Trench (South Pacific Ocean). Deep Sea Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 50:103/117.
- Gheskiere T, Hoste E, Vanaverbeke J, et al (2004) Horizontal zonation patterns and feeding structure of marine nematode assemblages on a macrotidal, ultra-dissipative sandy beach (De Panne, Belgium).
 J Sea Res 52:211–226. doi: 10.1016/j.seares.2004.02.001

- Giere O (2009) Meiobenthology: The microscopic motile fauna of aquatic sediments, Second. Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- Grimm V, Reise K, Strasser M (2003) Marine metapopulations: a useful concept? Helgol Mar Res 56:222–228. doi: 10.1007/S10152-002-0121-3
- Grove SL, Probert PK, Berkenbusch K, Nodder SD (2006) Distribution of bathyal meiofauna in the region of the Subtropical Front, Chatham Rise, south-west Pacific. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 330:342–355. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2005.12.038
- Guidi-Guilvard L, Thistle D, Khripounoff A, Gasparini S (2009) Dynamics of benthic copepods and other meiofauna in the benthic boundary layer of the deep NW Mediterranean Sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 396:181–195. doi: 10.3354/meps08408
- Guilini K, Soltwedel T, van Oevelen D, Vanreusel A (2011) Deep-sea nematodes actively colonise sediments, irrespective of the presence of a pulse of organic matter: Results from an in-situ experiment. PLoS One. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018912
- Hauquier F, Leliaert F, Rigaux A, et al (2017) Distinct genetic differentiation and species diversification within two marine nematodes with different habitat preference in Antarctic sediments. BMC Evol Biol 17:120. doi: 10.1186/s12862-017-0968-1
- Hauquier F, Verleyen E, Tytgat B, Vanreusel A (2018) Regional-scale drivers of marine nematode distribution in Southern Ocean continental shelf sediments. Prog Oceanogr 165:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2018.04.005
- Heip C, Huys R, Alkemade R (1992) Community structure and functional roles of meiofauna in the North Sea. Netherlands J Aquat Ecol 26:31–41. doi: 10.1007/BF02298026
- Holovachov O (2016) Metabarcoding of marine nematodes evaluation of reference datasets used in treebased taxonomy assignment approach. Biodivers Data J 4:e10021. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.4.e10021
- Huang YB, Chi H (2012) Assessing the application of the jackknife and bootstrap techniques to the estimation of the variability of the net reproductive rate and gross reproductive rate: a case study in Bactrocera cucurbitae (Coquillett) (Diptera: Tephritidae). J Agric For Entomol 61:37–45.
- Hubbell S (2001) The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Ingels J, Billett DSM, Kiriakoulakis K, et al (2011) Structural and functional diversity of Nematoda in relation with environmental variables in the Setúbal and Cascais canyons, Western Iberian Margin. Deep Sea Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 58:2354–2368. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2011.04.002
- Ingels J, Kiriakoulakis K, Wolff GA, Vanreusel A (2009) Nematode diversity and its relation to the quantity and quality of sedimentary organic matter in the deep Nazaré Canyon, Western Iberian Margin. Deep Sea Res Part I Oceanogr Res Pap 56:1521–1539. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr.2009.04.010
- Ingham RE, Trofymow JA, Ingham ER, Coleman DC (1985) Interactions of Bacteria, Fungi, and their Nematode Grazers: Effects on Nutrient Cycling and Plant Growth. Ecol Monogr 55:119–140. doi: 10.2307/1942528

- Ingole BS, Ansari ZA, Rathod V, Rodrigues N (2000) Response of Meiofauna to Immediate Benthic Disturbance in the Central Indian Ocean Basin. Mar Georesources Geotechnol 18:263–272. doi: 10.1080/10641190009353794
- Koleff P, Gaston K, Lennon J (2003) Measuring beta diversity for presence–absence data. J Anim Ecol 72:367–382.
- Lallias D, Hiddink JG, Fonseca VG, et al (2015) Environmental metabarcoding reveals heterogeneous drivers of microbial eukaryote diversity in contrasting estuarine ecosystems. ISME J 9:1208–21. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2014.213
- Lambshead P (2004) Marine nematode diversity. In: Chen Z, Chen S, Dickson D (eds) Nematode Morphology, Physiology and Ecology, 1st edn. Tsinghua University Press, Tsinghua, pp 438–492
- Lambshead PJD, Boucher G (2003) Marine nematode deep-sea biodiversity--hyperdiverse or hype? J Biogeogr 30:475–485.
- Leasi F, Andrade SC da S, Norenburg J (2016) At least some meiofaunal species are not everywhere. Indication of geographic, ecological and geological barriers affecting the dispersion of species of Ototyphlonemertes (Nemertea, Hoplonemertea). Mol Ecol 25:1381–1397. doi: 10.1111/mec.13568
- Leduc D, Rowden A, Bowden D, et al (2012) Nematode beta diversity on the continental slope of New Zealand: spatial patterns and environmental drivers. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 454:37–52. doi: 10.3354/meps09690
- Leibold MA, Holyoak M, Mouquet N, et al (2004) The metacommunity concept: a framework for multiscale community ecology. Ecol Lett 7:601–613. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00608.x
- Lins L, Leliaert F, Riehl T, et al (2017) Evaluating environmental drivers of spatial variability in free-living nematode assemblages along the Portuguese margin. Biogeosciences 14:651–669. doi: 10.5194/bg-14-651-2017
- Logue JB, Mouquet N, Peter H, Hillebrand H (2011) Empirical approaches to metacommunities: a review and comparison with theory. Trends Ecol Evol 26:482–491. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2011.04.009
- Lozupone C, Knight R (2005) UniFrac: a New Phylogenetic Method for Comparing Microbial Communities. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:8228–8235. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.12.8228–8235.2005
- Mare M (1942) A study of a marine benthic community with special reference to the micro-organisms. J Mar Biol Assoc United Kingdom 25:517–554. doi: 10.1017/S0025315400055132
- Martin RG, Bouma AH (1978) Physiography of the Gulf of Mexico. In: Boume AH, Moore GT, Coleman JM (eds) Frameworks, Facies and Oil-Trapping Characteristics of the Upper Continental Margin. American Association Petroleum Geologist Studies in Geology, pp 3–19
- Mazzullo J (1986) Sources and provinces of late Quaternary sand on the East Texas–Louisiana continental shelf. Geol Soc Am Bull 97:638. doi: 10.1130/0016-7606(1986)97<638:SAPOLQ>2.0.CO;2
- Meadows A, Meadows PS (1994) Bioturbation in deep sea Pacific sediments. J Geol Soc London 151:361– 375. doi: 10.1144/gsjgs.151.2.0361

- Moens T, Vanhove S, De Mesel I, et al (2007) Carbon sources of Antarctic nematodes as revealed by natural carbon isotope ratios and a pulse-chase experiment. Polar Biol 31:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00300-007-0323-x
- Mokievskii VO, Udalov AA, Azovskii AI (2007) Quantitative distribution of meiobenthos in deep-water zones of the World Ocean. Oceanology 47:797–813. doi: 10.1134/S0001437007060057
- Montagna PA, Blanchard GF, Dinet A (1995) Effect of production and biomass of intertidal microphytobenthos on meiofaunal grazing rates. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 185:149–165. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(94)00138-4
- Moran PAP (1950) Notes on Continuous Stochastic Phenomena. Biometrika 37:17. doi: 10.2307/2332142
- Mori AS, Furukawa T, Sasaki T (2013) Response diversity determines the resilience of ecosystems to environmental change. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 88:349–64. doi: 10.1111/brv.12004
- Naeem S, Duffy JE, Zavaleta E (2012) The functions of biological diversity in an age of extinction. Science 336:1401–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1215855
- Palmer M (1988) Dispersal of marine meiofauna: a review and conceptual model explaining passive transport and active emergence with implications for recruitment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 48:81–91.
- Pape E, Bezerra TN, Jones DOB, Vanreusel A (2013) Unravelling the environmental drivers of deep-sea nematode biodiversity and its relation with carbon mineralisation along a longitudinal primary productivity gradient. Biogeosciences 10:3127–3143. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-3127-2013
- Pawlowski J, Fahrni J, Lecroq B, et al (2007) Bipolar gene flow in deep-sea benthic foraminifera. Mol Ecol 16:4089–4096. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03465.x
- Pica-Granados Y, Ponce-Vélez MG, Echaury-Barrón MA (1991) Oceanografía geológica. In: G. de la Lanza-Espino (comp) O de mares mexicanos. AGTE (ed). México, pp 3–29
- Platt H, Warwick R (1983) Freeliving marine nematodes. Part 1: British enoplids. Pictorial key to world genera and notes for the identification of British species. University Press, Cambridge
- Platt H, Warwick R (1988) Free-living marine nematodes. Part II: British chromadorids. Brill/Backhuys, for the Linnean Society of London and the Estuarine and Brackish-Water Sciences Association
- Pusceddu A, Bianchelli S, Martin J, et al (2014) Chronic and intensive bottom trawling impairs deep-sea biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111:8861–8866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1405454111
- Radziejewska T, Gruszka P, Rokicka-Praxmajer J (2006) A home away from home: a meiobenthic assemblage in a ship's ballast water tank sediment. Oceanology 48:259–265.
- Ramirez-Llodra E, Brandt a., Danovaro R, et al (2010) Deep, diverse and definitely different: unique attributes of the world's largest ecosystem. Biogeosciences 7:2851–2899. doi: 10.5194/bg-7-2851-2010
- Randsø P V., Domenico MD, Herranz M, et al (2018) Population genetic structure of the intertidal kinorhynch Echinoderes marthae (Kinorhyncha; Cyclorhagida; Echinoderidae) across the São Sebastião Channel, Brazil. Proc Biol Soc Washingt 131:36–46. doi: 10.2988/17-00005

- Rex M, Etter R, Morris J, et al (2006) Global bathymetric patterns of standing stock and body size in the deep-sea benthos. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 317:1–8. doi: 10.3354/meps317001
- Rosli N, Leduc D, Rowden AA, Probert PK (2018) Review of recent trends in ecological studies of deep-sea meiofauna, with focus on patterns and processes at small to regional spatial scales. Mar Biodivers 48:13–34. doi: 10.1007/s12526-017-0801-5
- Rowe GT, Kennicutt MC (2008) Introduction to the Deep Gulf of Mexico Benthos Program. Deep Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2536–2540. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.09.002
- Rowe GT, Wei C, Nunnally C, et al (2008) Comparative biomass structure and estimated carbon flow in food webs in the deep Gulf of Mexico. Deep Res Part II Top Stud Oceanogr 55:2699–2711. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.07.020
- Schratzberger M, Ingels J (2017) Meiofauna matters: The roles of meiofauna in benthic ecosystems. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2017.01.007
- Service SK, Feller RJ, Coull BC, Woods R (1992) Predation effect of three fish species and a shrimp on macrobenthos and meiobenthos in microcosms. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 34:277–293. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7714(05)80084-8
- Sharma J, Baguley J, Bluhm BA, Rowe G (2011) Do Meio- and Macrobenthic Nematodes Differ in Community Composition and Body Weight Trends with Depth? PLoS One 6:e14491. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014491
- Sharma J, Baguley JG, Montagna P a., Rowe GT (2012) Assessment of Longitudinal Gradients in Nematode Communities in the Deep Northern Gulf of Mexico and Concordance with Benthic Taxa. Int J Oceanogr 2012:1–15. doi: 10.1155/2012/903018
- Sinniger F, Pawlowski J, Harii S, et al (2016) Worldwide Analysis of Sedimentary DNA Reveals Major Gaps in Taxonomic Knowledge of Deep-Sea Benthos. Front Mar Sci. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2016.00092
- Soltwedel T (2000) Metazoan meiobenthos along continental margins: a review. Prog Oceanogr 46:59–84. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6611(00)00030-6
- Soltwedel T (1997) Meiobenthos distribution pattern in the tropical East Atlantic: indication for fractionated sedimentation of organic matter to the sea floor? Mar Biol 129:747–756.
- Somerfield P, Warwick R (1996) Meiofauna in marine pollution monitoring programmes. A laboratory manual.
- Soto LA, Salcedo DL, Arvizu K, Botello A V. (2017) Interannual patterns of the large free-living nematode assemblages in the Mexican Exclusive Economic Zone, NW Gulf of Mexico after the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Ecol Indic 79:371–381. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.03.058
- Storch D, Gaston KJ (2004) Untangling ecological complexity on different scales of space and time. Basic Appl Ecol 5:389–400. doi: 10.1016/j.baae.2004.08.001
- Stuart CT, Brault S, Rowe GT, et al (2017) Nestedness and species replacement along bathymetric gradients in the deep sea reflect productivity: a test with polychaete assemblages in the oligotrophic northwest Gulf of Mexico. J Biogeogr 44:548–555. doi: 10.1111/jbi.12810

- Team RC (2013) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://wwwR-project.org/ 2013.
- Tilman D (1982) Resource competition and community structure. Monographs in Population Bioogy 17. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Torres-Freyermuth A, Puleo JA, DiCosmo N, et al (2017) Nearshore circulation on a sea breeze dominated beach during intense wind events. Cont Shelf Res 151:40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2017.10.008
- Trask P (1953) Chemicalstudies of sediments of the western Gulf of Mexico: Part 2. In: The Sediments of the Western Gulf of Mexico. Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology 12, 49–120.
- Twitchell D, Schwab W, Nelson C, et al (1992) Ground truthing the distalMississippi Fan with SeaMARC images and cores—What happens at the end of the pipe? ? US Geol Surv Res Energy Resour Progr Abstr US Geol Surv Circ C 1074:77–83.
- Ürkmez D, Sezgin M, Bat L (2014) Use of nematode maturity index for the determination of ecological quality status: a case study from the Black Sea. J Black Sea/Mediterranean Environ 20:96–107.
- Vidal VM V., Vidal F V., Hernández AF, et al (1994) Winter water mass distributions in the western Gulf of Mexico affected by a colliding anticyclonic ring. J Oceanogr 50:559–588. doi: 10.1007/BF02235424
- Ward CH, Tunnell JW (2017) Habitats and Biota of the Gulf of Mexico: An Overview. In: Ward CH (ed) Habitats and Biota of the Gulf of Mexico: Before the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Volume 1: Water Quality, Sediments, Sediment Contaminants, Oil and Gas Seeps, Coastal Habitats, Offshore Plankton and Benthos, and Shellfish. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp 1–54
- Warwick R, Platt H, Somerfield P (1998) Free-living marine nematodes Part III. Monhysterids. Synopsis of the British fauna. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Wei C-L, Rowe GT, Escobar-Briones E, et al (2010) Global patterns and predictions of seafloor biomass using random forests. PLoS One 5:e15323. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015323
- Whittaker RH (1960) Vegetation of the Siskiyou Mountains, Oregon and California. Ecol Monogr 30:279–338.
- Wieser W (1953) Die Beziehung zwischen Mundho⁻⁻hlengestalt, Erna⁻⁻hrungsweise und Vorkommen bei freilebenden marinen Nematoden. Ark fu⁻⁻r Zoolgie 4:439–484.
- Zeppilli D, Pusceddu A, Trincardi F, Danovaro R (2016) Seafloor heterogeneity influences the biodiversity– ecosystem functioning relationships in the deep sea. Sci Rep 6:26352. doi: 10.1038/srep26352
- Zeppilli D, Vanreusel A, Pradillon F, et al (2015) Rapid colonisation by nematodes on organic and inorganic substrata deployed at the deep-sea Lucky Strike hydrothermal vent field (Mid-Atlantic Ridge). Mar Biodivers 45:489–504. doi: 10.1007/s12526-015-0348-2

Appendix 1

| Abundance of each major taxon of meiobenthos and total abundance (ind 10cm ⁻²) | |
|--|--|
|--|--|

| Cruise | Sampling Station | Nematoda | Copepoda | Ostracoda | Polychaeta | Platyhelminthes | Gastrotricha | Tardigrada | Tanaidacea | Syncarida | Hydrozoa |
|----------|------------------|----------|----------|-----------|------------|-----------------|--------------|------------|------------|-----------|----------|
| XIXIMI-1 | A1 | 435.15 | 15.72 | 1.32 | 0.42 | 9.18 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | B18 | 299.70 | 8.74 | 3.92 | 0.45 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | C21 | 144.61 | 6.99 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 2.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | D30 | 163.83 | 4.37 | 1.32 | 0.45 | 6.11 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | F39 | 237.22 | 7.86 | 2.62 | 0.45 | 12.23 | 1.32 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | G44 | 245.10 | 3.93 | 1.75 | 0.43 | 11.79 | 0.43 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | H46 | 301.01 | 6.12 | 1.75 | 4.79 | 4.37 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| XIXIMI-2 | A3 | 178.63 | 15.13 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 5.04 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | A5 | 220.13 | 22.30 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 28.70 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | A10 | 109.78 | 7.18 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 11.44 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | B13 | 142.94 | 6.59 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 8.15 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | B16 | 248.64 | 20.36 | 0.39 | 0.39 | 9.70 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | C20 | 167.18 | 12.99 | 0.19 | 0.39 | 5.82 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | C22 | 128.01 | 12.22 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 8.53 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | C25 | 179.79 | 11.06 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 12.02 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | D28 | 196.47 | 11.25 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 12.41 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | F39 | 251.16 | 19.20 | 0.78 | 0.39 | 4.07 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | H46 | 291.31 | 21.92 | 0.39 | 0.00 | 7.56 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 |
| | A5 | 97.75 | 7.37 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 7.76 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.19 |
| XIXIMI-3 | A8 | 112.30 | 7.56 | 0.00 | 0.97 | 14.93 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 |
| | B18 | 206.36 | 23.66 | 0.00 | 1.36 | 3.88 | 0.58 | 1.36 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 |
| | C20 | 102.79 | 12.02 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 12.22 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 0.00 |
| | C23 | 59.35 | 2.52 | 0.58 | 0.39 | 19.01 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 |
| | C24 | 185.03 | 13.77 | 0.00 | 0.78 | 19.01 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 |
| | D29 | 81.26 | 3.49 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 20.56 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 |
| | E46 | 169.71 | 21.92 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 5.82 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 |
| | F37 | 111.33 | 12.80 | 0.00 | 1.36 | 24.44 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.19 |

| Cruise | Nemertea | Isopoda | Asteroidea | Kinorhyncha | Sipuncula | Acari | Oligochaeta | Loricifera | Total Abundance |
|----------|----------|---------|------------|-------------|-----------|-------|-------------|------------|-----------------|
| XIXIMI-1 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 8.75 | 0.00 | 470.534 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 6.12 | 0.00 | 318.932 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 1.32 | 0.00 | 155.113 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 2.19 | 0.00 | 178.270 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 3.07 | 0.00 | 264.784 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 2.18 | 0.00 | 265.605 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 5.67 | 0.00 | 323.705 |
| XIXIMI-2 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 198.798 |
| | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 272.692 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 3.10 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 131.885 |
| | 0.39 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 158.650 |
| | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 280.062 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 186.773 |
| | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 149.341 |
| | 0.58 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 204.034 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 220.132 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 275.989 |
| | 0.58 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.58 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 322.731 |
| | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 113.848 |
| XIXIMI-3 | 0.19 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 136.540 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.97 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 238.557 |
| | 0.39 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 128.200 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 82.040 |
| | 0.58 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.58 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 220.126 |
| | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.19 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 105.896 |
| | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.39 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 198.412 |
| | 1.75 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 152.056 |
Appendix 2

| Cruise | Sampling station | Depth (m) | Latitude °N | Longitude °W | Sediment classification | %Clay (< 4 μm) | %Silt (4- 62 μm) | %Sand (62–2 mm) |
|----------|------------------|-----------|-------------|--------------|-------------------------|----------------|------------------|-----------------|
| | A1 | 2,416 | 25.008 | -95.601 | very fine silt | 25 | 74 | 1 |
| | B18 | 1,233 | 23.988 | -86.758 | very coarse silt | 8 | 58 | 34 |
| | C21 | 3,569 | 23.008 | -95.005 | fine silt | 30 | 63 | 7 |
| XIXIMI-1 | D30 | 3,297 | 21.991 | -93.009 | fine silt | 25 | 72 | 3 |
| | F39 | 2,549 | 21.007 | -92.998 | fine silt | 27 | 71 | 2 |
| | G44 | 2,464 | 20.496 | -92.675 | fine silt | 24 | 72 | 4 |
| | H46 | 2,758 | 20.011 | -95.005 | fine silt | 18 | 74 | 8 |
| | A3 | 3,700 | 24.990 | -93.982 | fine silt | 19 | 65 | 16 |
| | A5 | 3,521 | 25.006 | -91.986 | coarse silt | 16 | 66 | 18 |
| | A10 | 3,341 | 25.000 | -87.010 | very coarse silt | 9 | 34 | 56 |
| | B13 | 3,739 | 24.003 | -93.725 | fine silt | 22 | 79 | 0 |
| | B16 | 3,628 | 23.989 | -89.994 | coarse silt | 14 | 60 | 26 |
| XIXIMI-2 | C20 | 1,791 | 23.011 | -96.709 | fine silt | 18 | 72 | 10 |
| | C22 | 3,727 | 23.000 | -94.520 | fine silt | 20 | 67 | 13 |
| | C25 | 3,714 | 23.017 | -91.013 | fine silt | 17 | 82 | 0 |
| | D28 | 3,367 | 22.011 | -95.002 | fine silt | 19 | 68 | 13 |
| | F39 | 2,246 | 21.003 | -93.026 | coarse silt | 11 | 67 | 22 |
| | H46 | 2,756 | 20.017 | -95.007 | fine silt | 18 | 81 | 1 |
| | A5 | 3,484 | 25.028 | -92.047 | coarse silt | - | - | - |
| | A8 | 3,469 | 25.010 | -88.983 | coarse silt | - | - | - |
| | B18 | 1,240 | 24.076 | -86.821 | very coarse silt | - | - | - |
| | C20 | 1,937 | 23.029 | -96.694 | fine silt | - | - | - |
| XIXIMI-3 | C23 | 3,715 | 22.998 | -92.985 | fine silt | - | - | - |
| | C24 | 3,559 | 22.489 | -92.018 | fine silt | - | - | - |
| | D29 | 3,569 | 21.997 | -94.004 | fine silt | - | - | - |
| | E46 | 1,598 | 20.029 | -96.018 | fine silt | - | - | - |
| | F37 | 3,055 | 21.013 | -95.086 | fine silt | - | - | - |

Detailed information of the environmental variables of each sampling station of XIXIMI-1, 2 and 3. IC: inorganic carbon, TOC: total organic carbon, C/N: carbon/nitrogen ratio.

| Cruise | IC | тос | C/N | Oxygen | |
|----------|-------|------|-------|--------|--|
| | 20.93 | 1.44 | 6.49 | 4.94 | |
| | 75.99 | 0.26 | 7.82 | 4.4 | |
| | 36.65 | 1.15 | 6.32 | 3.88 | |
| XIXIMI-1 | 32.08 | 1.38 | 6.33 | 4.01 | |
| | 28.09 | 1.36 | 8.24 | 4.93 | |
| | 24.79 | 1.54 | 14.20 | 3.98 | |
| | 19.89 | 1.11 | 8.13 | 4.93 | |
| | 28.25 | 1.51 | 5.35 | 4.67 | |
| | 33.26 | 1.21 | 6.19 | 4.76 | |
| | 48.71 | 1.12 | 5.05 | 4.78 | |
| | 34.73 | 1.43 | 6.91 | 4.66 | |
| | 51.94 | 1.45 | 8.29 | 4.66 | |
| XIXIMI-2 | 21.18 | 1.31 | 6.11 | 4.1 | |
| | 36.65 | 1.15 | 6.32 | 4.66 | |
| | 48.91 | 1.64 | 10.80 | 4.67 | |
| | 32.26 | 1.46 | 5.90 | 4.09 | |
| | 28.09 | 1.36 | 8.24 | 4.73 | |
| | 19.89 | 1.11 | 8.13 | 4.71 | |
| | 33.26 | 1.21 | 6.19 | 4.71 | |
| | 33.28 | 1.05 | 8.25 | 4.75 | |
| | 75.99 | 0.26 | 7.82 | 4.36 | |
| | 21.18 | 1.31 | 6.11 | 4.7 | |
| XIXIMI-3 | 35.31 | 0.92 | 7.22 | 4.82 | |
| | 41.20 | 1.27 | 7.03 | 3.94 | |
| | 31.80 | 1.00 | 7.90 | 3.9 | |
| | 25.21 | 1.00 | 8.32 | 4.03 | |
| | 28.00 | 1.05 | 8.38 | 4.81 | |

Appendix 3

| Family | Genera | Trophic Group | c-p value | A1 | B18 | C22 | D30 | F39 | G44 | H46 | Total |
|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------|--------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|-------|-------|--------|
| | Aegialoalaimus | 1A | 2 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 0 | 46.60 |
| Aegialoalalmidae | Diplopeltoides | - | 4 | 23.30 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 23.30 |
| Anoplostomatidae | Anoplostoma | 1B | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 15.53 |
| | Anticoma | 1A | 2 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Anticomidae | Cephalanticoma | 2A | 2 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Aphalenchoididae | Aphelenchoides | - | 2 | 0 | 7.77 | 46.60 | 46.60 | 124.27 | 93.20 | 62.14 | 380.58 |
| Axonolaimidae | Axonolaimus | 1B | 2 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 23.30 |
| Construction | Metadasynemella | 1A | 3 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 38.83 |
| Ceramonematidae | Pselionema | 1A | 3 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 0 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 85.44 |
| | Acantholaimus | 2A | - | 31.07 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 38.83 |
| Chromadoridae | Actinonema | 2A | 4 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Endeolophos | - | - | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 |
| | Hopperia | 2A | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 15.53 |
| Comesomatidae | Laimella | 2A | 2 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Sabatieria | 1B | 2 | 7.77 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 |
| | Acanthonchus | - | 3 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Longicyatholaimus | 2A | 3 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| Cueth eleimide e | Marylynnia | 2A | 3 | 15.53 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 62.14 |
| Cyatholaimidae | Minolaimus | - | 3 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Paralongicyatholaimus | 2A | 3 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 38.83 |
| | Praeacanthonchus | 2A | 3 | 15.53 | 31.07 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 54.37 |
| Descuedaridar | Desmodora | 2A | 3 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| Desmodoridae | Molgolaimus | 1A | 3 | 31.07 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 23.30 | 31.07 | 15.53 | 116.50 |
| | Calligyrus | 1A | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 |
| Description | Desmoscolex | 1A | 4 | 46.60 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 38.83 | 23.30 | 46.60 | 178.64 |
| Desmoscolecidae | Greeffiella | 1A | 4 | 0 | 15.53 | 0 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 0 | 15.53 | 62.14 |
| | Pareudesmoscolex | 1A | 4 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 0 | 77.67 |
| | Campylaimus | 1B | 3 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 |
| Diplopeltidae | Southerniella | 1A | 3 | 31.07 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 54.37 |
| | Diplopeltula | - | 3 | 31.07 | 23.30 | 0 | 0 | 23.30 | 23.30 | 0 | 100.97 |
| Encholidüdee | Belbolla | 2B | 4 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 0 | 62.14 |
| Enchelidiidae | Polygastrophora | 2B | 4 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Epsilonematidae | Epsilonema | 1A | 4 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Thoracostomopsidae | Enoploides | - | 2 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Haliplectidae | Setoplectus | 1A | 3 | 0 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 31.07 |

Nematode families and genera found in XIXIMI-1. Results in ind 10cm⁻².

| Family | Genera | Trophic Group | c-p value | A1 | B18 | C22 | D30 | F39 | G44 | H46 | Total |
|--------------------|-------------------|------------------|--------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--------|
| | Syringolaimus | 2B | 4 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Ironidae | Thalassironus | 2B | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 |
| | Trissonchulus | 2B | 4 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 23.30 |
| | Antomicron | - | 3 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 38.83 |
| Lautalaimidaa | Leptolaimoides | 1A | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Leptolaimidae | Leptolaimus | 1A | 2 | 31.07 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 77.67 |
| | Procamacolaimus | - | 3 | 0 | 23.30 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 31.07 |
| Leptosomatidae | Leptosomatum | - | 5 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Disconema | 1A | 3 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| | Metadesmolaimus | 1B | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Linnomoeidae | Metalinhomoeus | - | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Terschellingia | 1A | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Marillidaa | Gerlachius | 1A | 4 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 23.30 | 0 | 54.37 |
| weyilidae | Meylia | - | - | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Microlaimidae | Aponema | 1A | 3 | 46.60 | 31.07 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 93.20 |
| | Calomicrolaimus | 2A | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 |
| | Microlaimus | 2A | 2 | 54.37 | 54.37 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 15.53 | 38.83 | 15.53 | 209.71 |
| | Diplolaimella | 1B | 1 | 31.07 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 62.14 |
| Monhysteridae | Gammarinema | 1B | 1 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| | Monhystera | 1B | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.767 | 0 | 23.30 |
| Undefined | Undefined | - | - | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| | Halalaimus | 1A | 4 | 46.60 | 15.53 | 23.30 | 23.30 | 15.53 | 7.767 | 38.83 | 170.87 |
| Overstaminidaa | Nemanema | 1A | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 |
| Oxystominidae | Oxystomina | 1A | 4 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| | Wieseria | 1A | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 15.53 |
| Dhanadarmatidaa | Crenopharynx | 2A | 4 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 23.30 |
| Phanodermatidae | Phanoderma | 2B | 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 |
| Calashin sussiidas | Gammanema | 2B | 3 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 |
| Selachinematicae | Halichoanolaimus | 2B | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Cabaaralaimidaa | Metasphaerolaimus | 2B | 3 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 0 | 15.53 | 7.77 | 0 | 23.30 | 69.90 |
| Sphaerolaimidae | Sphaerolaimus | 2B | 3 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |
| Tarvaiidae | Tarvaia | 1A | - | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 |
| | Ammotheristus | 1B | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 | 15.53 | 0 | 23.30 |
| Vuolidaa | Amphimonhystrella | 1B | 2 | 38.83 | 31.07 | 0 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 7.77 | 100.97 |
| хуандае | Elzalia | 1B | 2 | 15.53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 15.53 | 31.07 |
| | Linhystera | 1A | 2 | 0 | 7.77 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 7.77 |

Appendix 4

| Cruise | Sampling Station | Depth (m) | Latitude ° N | Longitude ° W |
|-----------|------------------|-----------|--------------|---------------|
| | B3 | 470 | 25.742 | -96.258 |
| | B4 | 1,074 | 25.471 | -96.119 |
| | B5 | 1,610 | 25.493 | -95.641 |
| | B6 | 1,847 | 25.619 | -95.392 |
| | C3 | 559 | 25.254 | -96.368 |
| | C4 | 1,100 | 25.007 | -96.296 |
| | C5 | 1,760 | 25.273 | -95.901 |
| | C6 | 1,810 | 25.260 | -95.641 |
| Perdido 1 | C7 | 2,808 | 25.245 | -95.361 |
| | D3 | 472 | 24.874 | -96.611 |
| | D4 | 800 | 24.753 | -96.509 |
| | D5 | 1,280 | 24.875 | -96.117 |
| | D6 | 2,085 | 24.881 | -95.901 |
| | E7 | 2,812 | 24.514 | -95.680 |
| | F1 | 49.7 | 24.002 | -97.539 |
| | F2 | 116 | 24.009 | -97.318 |
| | F3 | 435 | 24.001 | -97.111 |
| | F4 | 1,620 | 24.005 | -96.676 |
| | F5 | 2,000 | 24.014 | -96.433 |
| | F7 | 2,847.60 | 24.013 | -95.623 |
| | F8 | 3,437 | 24.009 | -95.194 |
| | B1 | 50 | 25.621 | -96.836 |
| | B2 | 93 | 25.634 | -96.517 |
| | B3 | 498 | 25.750 | -96.253 |
| | B4 | 989.7 | 25.486 | -96.127 |
| | B5 | 1412.2 | 25.644 | -95.489 |
| | B6 | 1789 | 25.636 | -95.414 |
| | C1 | 46 | 25.252 | -97.059 |
| | C2 | 102 | 25.255 | -96.702 |
| | С3 | 520 | 25.255 | -96.352 |
| | C4 | 291.6 | 26.004 | -96.287 |
| | C5 | 1507.8 | 25.277 | -95.922 |
| | C6 | 1998 | 25.343 | -95.629 |
| | C7 | 2891 | 25.254 | -95.320 |
| Perdido 2 | D1 | 44 | 24.870 | -97.293 |
| | D2 | 105 | 24.872 | -96.899 |
| | D3 | 490 | 24.873 | -96.599 |
| | D4 | 812 | 24.773 | -96.511 |
| | D5 | 1270 | 24.898 | -96.124 |
| | D6 | 2109.5 | 24.884 | -95.927 |
| | E7 | 2931 | 24.501 | -95.671 |
| | F1 | 47.17 | 24.019 | -97.552 |
| | F2 | 87.4 | 24.001 | -97.316 |
| | F3 | 490 | 24.008 | -97.084 |
| | F4 | 1500 | 24.012 | -96.682 |
| | F5 | 1918.16 | 24.019 | -96.460 |
| | F7 | 3034.5 | 23.976 | -95.635 |
| | F8 | 3466 | 24.010 | -95.201 |

4.1 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from Perdido region.

4.2 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from Yucatan Shelf.

| Cruise | Sampling Station | Depth (m) | Latitude ° N | Longitude ° W | |
|--------|------------------|-----------|--------------|---------------|--|
| | B7 | 40 | 21.144 | -91.534 | |
| | B8 | 52 | 21.189 | -91.938 | |
| | B9 | 56.8 | 21.245 | -92.207 | |
| | B10 | 97.3 | 21.281 | -92.393 | |
| | C12 | 44 | 21.485 | -91.409 | |
| | C13 | 54.4 | 21.782 | -92.124 | |
| | C14 | 100.4 | 21.841 | -92.257 | |
| | C15 | 220 | 21.911 | -92.423 | |
| Comou | E23 | 44.5 | 22.119 | -90.731 | |
| Gomex | G31 | 16.6 | 21.410 | -89.561 | |
| | G33 | 51 | 22.393 | -89.818 | |
| | G34 | 105 | 22.964 | -89.600 | |
| | G35 | 159 | 22.746 | -89.894 | |
| | 141 | 21.7 | 21.694 | -89.005 | |
| | 071 | 23.1 | 21.885 | -87.089 | |
| | 072 | 25 | 21.952 | -86.989 | |
| | 074 | 81 | 22.207 | -86.843 | |
| | 075 | 123 | 22.250 | -86.809 | |

| Cruise | Sampling Station | Depth (m) | Latitude ° N | Longitude ° W | |
|------------|------------------|-----------|--------------|---------------|--|
| | A1 | 2416 | 25.008 | -95.601 | |
| | B18 | 1233 | 23.988 | -86.758 | |
| | C22 | 3569 | 23.008 | -95.005 | |
| XIXIMI-1 | D30 | 3297 | 21.991 | -93.009 | |
| | F39 | 2549 | 21.007 | -92.998 | |
| | G44 | 2464 | 20.496 | -92.675 | |
| | H46 | 2758 | 20.011 | -95.005 | |
| | A3 | 3700 | 24.990 | -93.982 | |
| | A5 | 3521 | 25.006 | -91.986 | |
| | A10 | 3341 | 25.000 | -87.010 | |
| | B13 | 3739 | 24.003 | -93.725 | |
| | B16 | 3628 | 23.989 | -89.994 | |
| XIXIMI-2 | C20 | 1791 | 23.011 | -96.709 | |
| | C22 | 3727 | 23.000 | -94.520 | |
| | C25 | 3714 | 23.017 | -91.013 | |
| | D28 | 3367 | 22.011 | -95.002 | |
| | F39 | 2246 | 21.003 | -93.026 | |
| | H46 | 2756 | 20.017 | -95.007 | |
| | A5 | 3484 | 25.028 | -92.047 | |
| | A8 | 3469 | 25.010 | -88.983 | |
| | B18 | 1240 | 24.076 | -86.821 | |
| | C20 | 1937 | 23.029 | -96.694 | |
| XIXIMI-3 | C23 | 3715 | 22.998 | -92.985 | |
| | C24 | 3559 | 22.489 | -92.018 | |
| | D29 | 3569 | 21.997 | -94.004 | |
| | E46 | 1598 | 20.029 | -96.018 | |
| | F37 | 3055 | 21.013 | -95.086 | |
| | A1 | 2429 | 25.000 | -95.533 | |
| | A5 | 3528 | 25.000 | -92.000 | |
| | Α7 | 3534 | 24.950 | -90.000 | |
| | B14 | 3734 | 24.000 | -92.300 | |
| | B18 | 1183 | 23.900 | -86.783 | |
| | C22 | 3721 | 23.000 | -94.550 | |
| | C22R | 3721 | 23.000 | -94.550 | |
| XIXIIVII-4 | E31 | 1549 | 21.500 | -96.517 | |
| | E34 | 3146 | 21.483 | -93.500 | |
| | G40 | 1930 | 20.483 | -95.984 | |
| | G44 | 2470 | 20.517 | -92.617 | |
| | H45 | 2159 | 19.983 | -95.600 | |
| | H45R | 2159 | 19.983 | -95.600 | |
| | H47 | 1342 | 20.000 | -94.017 | |

4.3 Depth and geographic location of sampling stations from deep-sea.

| Cruise | Sampling Station | Depth (m) | Latitude ° N | Longitude ° W |
|----------|------------------|-----------|--------------|---------------|
| | G44 | 2353 | 20.533 | -92.517 |
| | H47 | 1865 | 20.034 | -94.017 |
| | D26 | 1343 | 22.017 | -97.017 |
| | B11 | 2298 | 24.050 | -95.934 |
| | TS1 | 1355 | 25.733 | -95.533 |
| | A3 | 3685 | 25.034 | -94.000 |
| | A5 | 3513 | 25.117 | -92.000 |
| | A8 | 3477 | 25.117 | -89.050 |
| | B18 | 1242 | 23.967 | -86.717 |
| | B15 | 3708 | 23.967 | -91.017 |
| | C22 | 3717 | 22.983 | -94.550 |
| | D28 | 3721 | 21.983 | -95.050 |
| | B12 | 3508 | 24.050 | -95.117 |
| | B18 | 1150 | 24.050 | -86.883 |
| | C22 | 3727 | 23.000 | -94.517 |
| | D26 | 966 | 22.017 | -97.117 |
| XIXIMI-6 | D27 | 2722 | 22.000 | -96.000 |
| | E33 | 3431 | 21.483 | -94.500 |
| | G44 | 2384 | 20.500 | -92.500 |
| | G44-R | 2374 | 20.500 | -92.500 |
| | H48 | 1201 | 20.017 | -93.017 |